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The 2013/14 
financial year was 
another busy and 
successful year for 
the Department, 
with good progress 
achieved across the 
business. Improving 
and enhancing 
frontline operations 
to better meet the 
changing needs of 

the community remains a key focus. A priority 
this year was to set standards for effectively 
managing hazards across Western Australia. 
This includes embedding new ways of doing 
business and supporting improved information 
flow internally, with emergency management 
partners and with the community.

We have made significant headway towards 
a better coordinated and more effective 
emergency services organisation, achieving 
major milestones in some of our longer term 
projects that support our strategic goals.

Building a capable and sustainable workforce is 
critical for ensuring continued success.  
The Professional Pathways project is important 
for improving capability, capacity and cooperation 
across emergency services and for setting 
training and professional development standards.  
Priority pathways are completed and a website 
for supporting pathways communication 
established.

The creation of our Simulation Centre at Belmont 
is another important step forward in building 
capability. Pre-determined incident management 
teams can now participate in response 
simulation exercises in a safe environment 
leading to improved learning outcomes and more 
effective emergency response.

Substantial progress has been made on the 
review of Western Australia’s emergency 
services legislation, with the release of the 
Regulatory Impact Statement (Concept Paper) 
for public comment. A core objective of the 
review is to implement legislation that increases 
community resilience through promoting a focus 
on shared responsibility for prevention, whilst 
also coordinating emergency preparedness and 
response across government agencies; local 
government, volunteers and private landowners.

A standard for Bushfire Prone Area Mapping has 
also been developed by the Office of Bushfire 
Risk Management and this will be an important 
tool for mitigating bushfire risk to communities.

 I have been in command of this dynamic 
organisation for three years now. Together we 
have achieved a great deal in a relatively short 
period of time.

There is no doubt that there will be further 
challenges ahead, but I remain confident 
that these will be overcome. Finally, I extend 
my thanks and appreciation to the staff and 
volunteers who have demonstrated their 
continued commitment to the ongoing evolution 
of our Department as a leading emergency 
services organisation.

Commissioner’s Foreword

Commissioner Wayne Gregson
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Executive Summary

Financial Overview

Overview

Finance costs
$3,012,000

Accommodation
expenses
$7,701,000

Grants
and subsidies
$39,919,000

Other expenses
$15,488,000

User charges
and fees

$280,830,000

Employee
benefits
expense
$175,689,000

Supplies
and services
$89,227,000

Depreciation
and amortisation

expense
$16,245,000 Commonwealth

grants and
contributions

$4,435,000

Interest revenue
$120,000

Other revenue
$3,299,000

Gain on disposal of
non-current assets
$372,000

Service
appropriation
$50,688,000

Services received
free of charge
$1,029,000

Royalties for
Regions Fund
$371,000

Total cost of DFES 
services from 

1 July to 30 June
$347,281,000

Total sources of 
funding for DFES 

services from 
1 July to 30 June
$341,144,000
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DFES’ Key Achievements for 2013/14 are:

• Progressed the development of contemporary Emergency Services Legislation.

• Progressed improved support arrangements for career and volunteer firefighters.

• Reviewed and developed False Fire Alarm management processes.

• Developed a State wide standard for Bushfire Prone Area Mapping.

• Established the Metropolitan Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service Brigade.

• Progressed improved Command, Control, Coordination and Information Systems project.

• Clarified and designed training standards for volunteers as part of the Professional Pathways project.

• Commenced implementation of improved Crew Protection systems for firefighting vehicles.

• Increased aerial firefighting capacity.

Performance Highlights
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Enabling Legislation
The     was established on 1 November 2012. The Department operates under the amended Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.

DFES comprises the career and Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service (FRS and VFRS), the State Emergency Service (SES) and Volunteer Marine 
Rescue Services (VMRS), Volunteer Emergency Service (VES) and Volunteer Fire Service (VFS) units. We support local governments in aspects of the 
administration, training and funding of the Bush Fire Service (BFS) and also support the participation of young volunteers through our Emergency Services 
Cadets and junior programs.

DFES also has responsibility for administering State resources to two metropolitan sea rescue groups and the service level agreement for Surf Life Saving 
Western Australia’s volunteer rescue operations. Surf Life Saving Western Australia has more than 4,700 patrolling lifeguards who provide a range of 
essential services to the beach going community.

SEMC Secretariat
With the establishment of DFES, Emergency Management Western Australia, responsible for supporting the State Emergency Management Committee in 
the coordination and development of emergency management policy across the State, was restructured and renamed the State Emergency Management 
Committee (SEMC) Secretariat. Formerly a business unit of DFES, the SEMC Secretariat was formally established as a sub-department of DFES on 
1 July 2013.

In support of the SEMC Secretariat, DFES provides transactional human resources, finance and other services on a free of charge basis. Where DFES 
data includes or is impacted by SEMC Secretariat data, it is noted within this report.

As a reporting authority in its own right, the SEMC Secretariat will prepare a separate Annual Report with its own Financial Statements and Key 
Performance Indicator results. The DFES Annual Report should be read in conjunction with the SEMC Secretariat report. Links between each report are 
provided where appropriate.

Responsible Minister
The Honourable Joe Francis MLA, Minister for Emergency Services.

Operational Structure
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Our Vision
Resilient Western Australian communities that 
work together to build capability and capacity 
to prevent, prepare for, respond to and recover 
from emergencies.

Our Mission
To improve community safety practices and 
provide timely, quality and effective emergency 
services, in partnership with local communities 
and emergency service providers.

Our Values
• Put the community first.
• Work together as a committed team.
• Respect and value each other.
• Continuously improve our services.
• Act with integrity and honesty.
• Have open and honest two way 

communications.
• Strive to keep ourselves and others safe.

Our Role and Responsibilities
DFES has a legislated role to manage a range 
of emergencies within Western Australia. 
This includes ensuring our workforce has the 
capability and capacity to effectively respond 
to emergencies. It also includes supporting 
increased community resilience by working with 
and within communities, focusing on shared 
responsibilities for the prevention and mitigation 
of hazard risks.

The FES Commissioner is the hazard 
management agency in Western Australia for:
• Fire.
• Hazardous materials incidents.
• Flood.
• Cyclone.
• Storm.
• Earthquake.
• Tsunami.
• Collapse – landform or structures.

The FES Commissioner is also entrusted to:
• Identify areas which may be prone to bushfire.
• Designate areas as bushfire prone.
• Maintain and update any database which 

designates areas as being bushfire prone.

DFES also provides combat and support 
services, including:
• Marine search and rescue.
• Land search.

• Air search and rescue (including emergency 
casualty transport).

• Urban search and rescue.
• Cliff, cave and confined space rescue.
• Road transport emergencies.
• Rail transport emergencies.
• Animal disease outbreak.
• Telecommunications.
• Resupply.

DFES facilitates State emergency management 
capacity building through:
• Development of hazard specific policy 

and plans.
• Assistance in the development of 

mitigation initiatives and standards.

DFES also provides advice and support 
on emergency management issues to key 
stakeholders at the local, State and National 
levels, including:
• Participation in State and National strategic 

working groups.
• Provision of emergency management training.
• DFES administered the Western Australia 

Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery 
Arrangements until 30 March 2014, prior to 
the transfer of this function to the Department 
of the Premier and Cabinet. 
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Kimberley Region

Area (km2) 431,028

Career Fire and Rescue Stations 0

Volunteer Brigades / Groups / Units 19

Total Number of Volunteers 569

Pilbara Region

Area (km2) 518,036

Career Fire and Rescue Stations 0

Volunteer Brigades / Groups / Units 30

Total Number of Volunteers 888

Goldfields Midlands Region

Area (km2) 805,921

Career Fire and Rescue Stations 1

Volunteer Brigades / Groups / Units 133

Total Number of Volunteers 3,750

Great Southern Region

Area (km2) 141,584

Career Fire and Rescue Stations 1

Volunteer Brigades / Groups / Units 244

Total Number of Volunteers 9,495

Midwest Gascoyne Region

Area (km2) 625,157

Career Fire and Rescue Stations 1

Volunteer Brigades / Groups / Units 110

Total Number of Volunteers 3,241

Perth Metropolitan Region

Area (km2) 10,064

Career Fire and Rescue Stations 24

Volunteer Brigades / Groups / Units 88

Total Number of Volunteers 4,773

South West Region

Area (km2) 7,206

Career Fire and Rescue Stations 1

Volunteer Brigades / Groups / Units 51

Total Number of Volunteers 1,569

Lower South West Region

Area (km2) 19,395

Career Fire and Rescue Stations 0

Volunteer Brigades / Groups / Units 125

Total Number of Volunteers 4,748

Kimberley

Pilbara

Midwest Gascoyne

Goldfields Midlands

Great Southern

Lower South West

South West

Perth Metropolitan
Metro North Coastal

Metro North East
Metro South Coastal

Metro South East

For Personnel and Emergency Response Statistics please see Appendix 2.
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Organisational Structure

Command Key Responsibilities

Office of the Commissioner • Health and Safety Services.
• Office of Bushfire Risk Management.

Operations Command • Delivery of operational services through the career and Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service (FRS and VFRS), 
Volunteer Emergency Service (VES), Volunteer Fire Services (VFS) and State Emergency Service (SES).

• Support local governments in aspects of the administration, training and funding of the Bush Fire Service (BFS).

Capability Command • Operations capability including built environment services, special response, volunteer marine services, fire 
investigations and analysis and aviation services.

• State hazard planning including environmental protection, community engagement, spatial services and operational 
command control, communications and information systems.

• Professional development including career and volunteer technical training, curriculum development and incident 
management training and leadership and management training.

• Operational readiness and standards including doctrine and research and development.

Corporate Services 
Executive Command

• Business services, information resources and strategic procurement.
• Development and maintenance of on-line services, information and communications technology.
• Human resources, including workplace relations, personnel and payroll, workers compensation and injury 

management, wellness, volunteer and youth services.
• Media and public affairs and corporate communications.
• Asset planning, delivery and maintenance of fleet equipment and property.

Governance and Strategy 
Executive Command

• Risk, planning and evaluation, including corporate risk management, strategic and corporate planning and reporting.
• Promoting professional standards and the investigation of matters relating to misconduct.
• Development and governance of corporate projects and innovation / ideas management.
• Legislation, policy management and governance.
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Organisational Chart as at 30 June 2014

State Emergency Management 
Committee Secretariat 

(Sub Department)

Office of the  
Commissioner

Director Health and  
Safety Services

Director Information and 
Communications Technology

Director Business Services

Director Media and 
Corporate Communications

Director Human Resources

Director Asset Planning and Delivery

Deputy Commissioner Operations 
L Bailey

Assistant Commissioner Country 
C Amol

Assistant Commissioner  
Metropolitan 

B Stringer

Assistant Commissioner  
Operations Capability 

G Swift

Assistant Commissioner  
Hazard Planning and Response 

G Gifford

Assistant Commissioner  
Professional Development 

D Klemm

Chief Superindendent Operational 
Readiness and Standards

Deputy Commissioner Capability 
S Fewster

Director Risk Planning  
and Reporting

Director Legal and 
Legislative Services

Director Strategic Program Office

Director Professional Standards

Executive Director 
Governance and Strategy 

D Caporn

Executive Director  
Corporate Services 

F Pasquale

FES Commissioner 
W Gregson

Office of Bushfire 
Risk Management

Denotes a member of DFES’ Corporate Leadership Team
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Senior Officers
Commissioner Wayne Gregson, APM, BA, MBA 
(Fire and Emergency Services Commissioner)

Commissioner Wayne Gregson was appointed 
Chief Executive Officer of FESA in September 
2011 for a period of 12 months. He was 
appointed Commissioner upon the formation of 
the Department of Fire and Emergency Services 
on 1 November 2012.

Commissioner Gregson joined FESA from 
Western Australia Police (WAPOL), where he 
held the rank of Assistant Commissioner within 
Judicial Services. He joined WAPOL as a cadet 
in 1979 and was promoted through the ranks to 
Assistant Commissioner, a rank which he held 
for seven years.

Commissioner Gregson holds a Master of 
Business Administration from Edith Cowan 
University, Graduate Certificate in Applied 
Management from the Australian Institute of 
Police Management and a Bachelor of Arts from 
the University of Western Australia.

Deputy Commissioner Lloyd Bailey AFSM
(Operations Command)

Deputy Commissioner Bailey has more than 
39 years experience in fire and emergency 
services, having commenced as a volunteer 
firefighter before joining the WA Fire Brigades 
Board in 1980 as a recruit.

He held a number of roles within FESA in both 
the metropolitan and country regions before it 
became the Department of Fire and Emergency 
Services, and was promoted to his current 
position in March 2012.

Deputy Commissioner Bailey holds a Diploma 
of Fire Engineering Management, Graduate 
Certificate in Applied Management from the 
Australian Institute of Police Management 
and a Graduate Business qualification from 
Curtin University.

Deputy Commissioner Stephen Fewster 
BA(Mil), MSc
(Capability Command)

Deputy Commissioner Fewster has worked 
in both the State and Commonwealth Public 
Service for the past 37 years.

His roles include senior positions with the 
Departments of Defence, Justice, Attorney 
General and Premier and Cabinet. He has also 
held senior management positions with FESA in 
the State Emergency Service and Fire Services.

DFES’ corporate structure comprises four 
commands that coordinate and deliver 
agreed services. The Corporate Leadership 
Team (CLT) includes the Commissioner, two 
Deputy Commissioners and two Executive 
Directors from the four Commands. They are 
supported by Assistant Commissioners from the 
Operations and Capability Commands.

The CLT participate in an on-going program 
of professional development. During 2013/14 
the focus was on completing the Company 
Directors Course offered by the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Back Row: Assistant Commissioners Darren Klemm, Graham Swift,  
Chris Arnol, Gary Gifford, Brad Stringer

Front Row: Executive Director David Caporn, Deputy Commissioner  
Lloyd Bailey, Commissioner Wayne Gregson, Deputy Commissioner  
Steve Fewster, Executive Director Frank Pasquale.
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Mr Frank Pasquale, BCom
(Executive Director, Corporate Services 
Command)

Mr Pasquale has 24 years experience in the 
public sector, commencing at the Office of the 
Auditor General. In 1996 he joined the Bush 
Fires Board of Western Australia.

During his 18 years with fire and emergency 
services, Mr Pasquale has managed significant 
financial reform projects, in particular the 
challenging implementation of the Financial 
Management Information System and the 
Emergency Services Levy.

Mr David Caporn, APM
(Executive Director, Governance and 
Strategy Command)

Mr Caporn has more than 38 years experience 
in the public sector, with a long history in 
Emergency; Security and Risk Management, 
including 32 years with WAPOL.

In his current role at the Department of Fire 
and Emergency Services he oversees the 
directorates of Risk, Planning and Reporting; 
Legal and Legislative Services; the Strategic 
Program Office and Professional Standards.

Assistant Commissioner Chris Arnol, MPM
(Country Operations)

Assistant Commissioner Arnol has more than 
36 years experience in fire and emergency 
services. He holds a Masters Degree in Public 
Management (Flinders University) and a 
Graduate Certificate in Applied Management 
(Sturt University). He is a Member of the Institute 
of Fire Engineers, and was awarded a Churchill 
Fellowship for studies in urban interface 
firefighting in 2008.

Assistant Commissioner Gary Gifford ESM
(Hazard Planning and Response)

Assistant Commissioner Gifford has 37 years 
experience in the defence and emergency 
services industry.

He has been involved in emergency 
management at a national level for more 
than 11 years and in 2010 was awarded the 
Australian Emergency Services Medal.

Assistant Commissioner Darren Klemm
(Professional Development)

Assistant Commissioner Klemm has more than 
24 years experience in fire and emergency 
services, having served three years with the 
South Australian Metropolitan Fire Service before 
joining the WA Fire Brigades Board in 1993.

Originally posted to Perth Fire Station, he has 
served at various metropolitan fire stations, 
followed by service in the Goldfields/ Midlands 
region as part of Country Operations.

Assistant Commissioner Brad Stringer
(Metropolitan Operations)

Assistant Commissioner Stringer has 24 years 
experience working in the fire and emergency 
services, having initially joined the WA Fire 
Brigades Board in 1989 as a recruit firefighter.  
He has served thoughout the metropolitan 
region as a Firefighter, Station Officer, District 
Officer, Superintendent and Rural Operations 
Coordinator – North and South.

Assistant Commissioner Graham Swift BBA
(Operations Capability)

Assistant Commissioner Swift has 34 years 
experience in the field of fire and emergency 
services, having commenced as a volunteer 
firefighter in 1980, before moving to the  
Bush Fires Board of WA as a Regional Training 
Officer in 1994.

Assistant Commissioner Swift holds a 
Bachelor of Business Administration from 
Curtin University.
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Administered Legislation
DFES administers the following Acts along with 
associated subsidiary legislation:
Bush Fires Act 1954
Emergency Services Levy Act 2002
Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998
Fire Brigades Act 1942

For other key legislation impacting on 
DFES activities, please see Appendix 1.

Changes to Written Law
Emergency Management Amendment Regulations 2013
The Emergency Management Amendment Regulations 2013 came into effect on 15 October 2013. 
These regulations amended the Emergency Management Regulations 2006 to create a new hazard 
of loss or interruption to the supply of electricity. The Coordinator of Energy was prescribed as the 
hazard management agency for emergency management of this hazard for the whole of the State.

Dangerous Goods Safety (Storage and Handling of Non-explosives) Regulations 2007
On 1 January 2014 the amendments to the Dangerous Goods Safety (Storage and Handling of 
Non-explosives) Regulations 2007 came into effect. As a result, the term ‘special risk plans’ is not 
recognised and the Department of Mines and Petroleum now requires DFES Special Risk Plans to be 
renamed ‘FES Emergency Response Guide’. Regulation 76B now specifies the circumstances under 
which a Guide is prepared for a dangerous goods site.
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Performance Management Framework

Outcome Based Management Framework

Link to Government Goals
DFES’ core business is to support Government 
Goal 3:
Results Based Service Delivery: Greater focus 
on achieving results in key service delivery areas 
for the benefit of all Western Australians.

Many initiatives also contribute towards 
the Government’s goals for ‘Social and 
environmental responsibility’, ‘A stronger 
focus on the regions’ and ‘State building – 
major projects’.

Social and environmental responsibility
DFES supports the achievement of this goal 
through a commitment to develop sustainable 
emergency management strategies and 
programs targeted to meet the needs of 
local communities.

A stronger focus on the regions
Services are delivered through a network 
of regionally based employees and 
volunteers. Through the administration of 
the Local Government Grants Scheme and 
volunteer support programs, DFES assists 
local governments maintain volunteer 
services appropriate to the level of risk in 
their communities.

State building – major projects
The DFES capital works program includes 
development of new emergency services 
facilities across the State.

The Kambalda VFRS is now operating from 
a newly constructed, modern facility. The 
Bassendean FRS has been relocated to new 
premises in Kiara.

Ongoing projects include construction of new 
facilities in Geraldton, Bunbury and in Perth’s 
northern metropolitan suburb of Butler.

Changes to Outcome Based 
Management Framework
DFES has retained the performance 
management framework established for the 
former Fire and Emergency Services Authority 
of Western Australia. There were no changes to 
the framework in 2013/14.

Significant work is being undertaken at the 
National level by fire and emergency services 
organisations to develop contemporary 
performance measures. The project is 
intended to provide an agreed framework for 
benchmarking and measuring performance 
across the industry. The DFES framework will 
be reviewed and aligned with the National 
framework over the coming year.
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Outcome 1

Western Australian communities able to 
prevent, prepare for and recover from 
emergencies.

Key Effectiveness Indicators

Number of accidental residential fires per 100,000 households.
Proportion of structural fires confined to object or room of origin.
Percentage of Emergency Response Guides for hazardous material sites reviewed within 
specified timeframes.

Key Efficiency Indicator

Cost of Prevention and Mitigation Services per capita (Western Australia).

Key Efficiency Indicator

Cost of Emergency Services per capita (Western Australia).

Key Effectiveness Indicators

Percentage of 000 calls answered within the target timeframe.
Percentage of metropolitan responses by the career Fire and Rescue Service within 
target timeframes.
Percentage of Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service turnouts within target timeframes – 
Hazard Management Agency roles only.
Percentage of required operational personal trained in Level 2 and Level 3 incident management.

Service 1

Prevention and Mitigation Services

Outcome 2

The impact of emergencies is minimised 
through the delivery of appropriate 
emergency response.

Service 2

Emergency Services
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Weather Warnings
DFES and the Bureau of Meteorology each have 
a responsibility to ensure that Western Australian 
communities are informed and supported in 
preparing for emergencies caused by severe 
weather events. The agencies have a close 
working relationship, which is underpinned 
by a Memorandum of Understanding signed 
in December 2011. A meteorologist is 
based in the DFES State Operations Centre 
at the Emergency Services Complex and 
provides forecasting services to support 
incident management. The primary objective 
is to provide incident managers with an 
understanding of current and predicted weather 
conditions to improve response planning.

Arson Reduction
DFES works closely with Western Australia 
Police (WAPOL) and the Department of Parks 
and Wildlife (DPaW) in reducing arson. A joint 
agency campaign encourages the community, 
particularly those vulnerable to bushfire, to be 
vigilant against arsonists and report suspicious 
behaviour. The DFES Extinguish Arson 
Database is also an important tool that enables 
Fire Investigation Officers and WAPOL to identify 
trends and investigators to monitor suspicious 
fire activity and combat arson.

State Air Desk
DFES and DPaW have joint management 
responsibilities for the State’s aerial suppression 
assets. The State Air Desk operates from DFES’ 
Emergency Services Complex in Cockburn, 
within the State Operations Centre. It is jointly 
resourced to carry out the tasks of dispatch and 
coordination of suppression aircraft.

The State Air Desk began full time operations 
for the southern bushfire seasons from 
1 November 2013.

State Emergency Rescue Helicopter Service
DFES manages the contracts for the emergency 
rescue helicopter, RAC Rescue. Sponsorship 
is provided by the RAC and critical care 
paramedics are provided under a contract 
arrangement with St John Ambulance. 
Helicopter pilots are provided under DFES’ 
Aviation Services contract.

Significant Issues 
Impacting DFES
Current and Emerging Issues and Trends
DFES is progressing a number of significant long 
term projects designed to reform emergency 
service delivery and improved community 
outcomes including:
The Command, Control, Coordination and 
Information Systems project (C3IS)
This long term project is progressing in close 
consultation with emergency management 
partners. It will deliver improved command, 
control and coordination of significant 
emergency events, support a more coordinated 
approach to capability and capacity planning 
across agencies and consequently improve 
emergency management preparedness and 
response at the State, regional and local levels.

The Emergency Services Act Review
This project will consolidate existing emergency 
services legislation into a single Emergency 
Service Act. The new Act is intended to: 
consolidate the existing provisions; update the 
legislation to reflect contemporary emergency 
service practice; and where appropriate, 
incorporate recommendations from major 
inquiries and reports. It is anticipated that during 
2014/15, DFES will receive approval to develop 
drafting instructions for the Bill.

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies
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Safety Risk Management
Safety risk management continues to receive 
high priority from both the State Government 
and DFES. The development of DFES’ Safety 
Management System will be completed by 
the end of 2014 with implementation following 
during the remainder of 2014/15.

Specific risks that will continue to be addressed 
during 2014/15 include:
• The allocation of full face masks to all career 

and a provision to volunteer stations to 
mitigate their exposure to bushfire smoke 
contaminants.

• Continued implementation of a four year 
program to significantly improve crew cab 
protection in bushfire fighting vehicles.

Economic and Social Trends
During 2013/14, changes in the operating 
environment, together with implementation 
of State Government efficiency initiatives 
contributed to capability and capacity pressures 
across the agency. This was addressed by re-
prioritisation of business improvement initiatives 
to identify cost saving opportunities. In addition, 
the DFES reform program continues to innovate 
and improve integration across services to 
optimise the use of physical, financial and 
human resources.

The Office of Bushfire Risk Management 
(OBRM) continues to work with DPaW, DFES 
operations and local governments to ensure 
management of bushfire related risk within 
their areas of responsibility. Standards have 
been developed for use by agencies to 
guide Prescribed Burning, Bushfire Prone 
Area Mapping, and the development and 
implementation of localised Bushfire Risk 
Management Plans. A complementary 
performance and audit framework is also 
being developed.

Likely Developments and Forecast of 
Results of Operations
In 2014/15 DFES will continue to develop 
capability through on-going projects:
• The Command, Control, Coordination 

and Information System project.
• The Professional Pathways project.
• The Emergency Services Legislation 

Review project.
• Support arrangements for volunteer 

firefighters.

A new capability focus this year will be the 
Aboriginal Trainee Firefighter Pre-employment 
Pilot Program.

OBRM will continue to support the mitigation of 
bushfire risk across the State.
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Actual Results versus Budget Targets

Resource Agreement
(Treasurer’s Instructions 808)

The following performance information (financial and non-financial) is the subject of a resource agreement signed by the Minister for Emergency Services, 
the Department of Fire and Emergency Services and the Treasurer under Part 3, Division 5 of the Financial Management Act 2006. Resources are 
provided for the delivery of two services, which are linked to the two agency level outcomes.

Prevention and Mitigation Services
Western Australian communities able to prevent, prepare for and recover from emergencies.

Emergency Services
The impact of emergencies is minimised through the delivery of appropriate emergency response.

Report on Operations
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Financial Targets Summary (further detail is provided in the Financial Statements)

Performance is monitored against financial targets and through our key performance indicators. Performance results for 2013/14 are shown below.

2013/14 
Target 
$000

2013/14 
Actual 
$000

Variation 
 

$000
Reason for Significant Variation between Target and Actual

Total cost of services (expense 
limit) (details from Statement of 
Comprehensive Income).

325,638 347,281 21,643 The variance is mainly due to a government approved increase in the 
DFES expense limit to address budget shortfalls including funding for 
the Air Crane, voluntary severances and impairment loss related to the 
write down of the FESA House site.

Net cost of services 
(details from Statement of 
Comprehensive Income).

38,093 58,225 20,132 The variance is mainly due to a government approved increase in the 
DFES expense limit to address budget shortfalls including funding for 
the Air Crane and impairment loss related to the write down of the 
FESA House site.

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
held. (details from Statement of 
Cash Flows).

(654) 16,072 16,726 Increase in cash balances largely reflects underspends in recurrent 
projects, delays in filling vacancies due to the government approved 
staff freeze and delays in capital works program during 2013/14.

Total equity (details from 
Statement of Financial Position).

284,051 327,620 43,569 The variance mainly reflects an equity contribution from the State 
Government in relation to the sale of FESA House, an upward 
revaluation of assets, increases in inventories and cash balances, 
together with a decrease in leave liability.

2013/14 
Target

2013/14 
Actual

Variation

Approved average Full Time 
Equivalent (FTE) staff level.

1,431 1,419.38 11.62 The variance is mainly due to the government approved voluntary 
severance scheme and staff freeze.
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DFES’ Effectiveness Scorecard

Level of Achievement Status Page

Service 1: Prevention and Mitigation

Number of accidental residential fires per 100,000 households 62.73 ✔ 113

Proportion of structure fires confined to object or room of origin 74.59% ✔ 114

Percentage of FES Emergency Response Guides for hazardous materials sites 
reviewed within specified timeframes 

91.67% ✔
115

Service 2: Emergency Services 

Percentage of 000 calls answered within the target timeframe 95.88% ✔ 117

Percentage of metropolitan responses by career Fire and 
Rescue Service within target timeframes 

Total Times 90.72% ✔ 118

Life Critical – Structural Fire 94.59% ✔ 119

Life Critical – Rescue 92.23% ✔ 119

Percentage of Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service turnouts within target timeframes – 
Hazard Management Agency roles only

93.34% ✔
122

Percentage of operational personnel trained in incident 
management 

Level 2 135% ✔ 123

Level 3 142% ✔ 123

Service 1: Prevention and Mitigation

Cost of prevention and mitigation services per capita (WA) $18.65 ✘ 116

Service 2: Emergency Services 

Cost of emergency services per capita (WA) $125.50 ✘ 124

KEY        Target     ✔ We are achieving our goals      ✘ Desired result not achieved – taking action
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Emergency management can be grouped into three phases of activity – before, during and after an incident or event occurs. 

Before
Preparedness for emergency events accounts for a significant component of DFES resourcing and is undertaken at two levels:
1. Preparing the Department to be ready to respond when incidents occur.
2. Supporting the community to prepare for emergencies that may impact them as a consequence of the local risks 

they face.

Preparedness at the Department level includes determining and establishing capability and capacity requirements for 
managing DFES hazard risks. This informs strategic asset, human resource and training delivery planning. Preparedness includes exercising at the State, 
departmental and local levels which allows response personnel to test and practise protocols in a safe learning environment.

DFES services assist stakeholders to understand their responsibilities in relation to improving preparedness at the local level by helping them identify, 
understand and mitigate local hazards and risks. Specific services that are provided across the State in this stage include built environment planning; 
monitoring and planning for bushfire risk; and delivery of community education and awareness programs tailored to specific hazards.

During
Response services are the most obvious interface that DFES has with the community. DFES’ objective is to promote 
highly motivated, resourced and well trained emergency responders, both volunteers and career, that strive to keep 
themselves and others safe. The work undertaken in the preparedness phase (BEFORE) supports cohesive and 
cooperative delivery of emergency services and reduced impact from emergencies.

Information management and effective communication across all stakeholders, including the affected community, is 
vitally important during the incident response phase.

After
DFES’ objective is to create a learning culture that supports continuous improvement.  During this phase, DFES 
undertakes evaluation of emergency response to validate current practice and protocols and identify where 
improvements can be made. Outcomes of incident reviews and other relevant feedback, including research findings, 
are fed back into the planning and preparedness phase to support learning and maintain contemporary standards of 
service delivery.
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You need to start 

preparing for cyclonic 

weather.

You need to prepare for 

the arrival of a cyclone.

You need to go shelter 

immediately.

Wind and storm surge 

dangers have passed but 

you need to take care to 

avoid the dangers caused 

by damage.

01
FACTSHEET  

CYCLONE AND FLOOD

Cyclone Alert System

For more information visit www.dfes.wa.gov.au or contact DFES Community Engagement 9395 9816

KEEP INFORMED, STAY SAFE

COMMUNITY ALERT LEVELS

Get ready for 

a cyclone

Take action 

and get ready 

to shelter from 

a cyclone

Take shelter 

from the 

cyclone

Cyclones can be unpredictable and can 

intensify rapidly. You need to prepare for a 

cyclone impact even if it does not look like 

it is coming your way. 

You and your family must know

■ The four stages of the alert system and 

what they mean

■ Where to access the latest alert 

level information

■ What tasks or actions need to be done  

on each alert level

When a cyclone threatens, community alerts will be issued by the 

Department of Fire and Emergency Services. The alert level changes to 

reflect the increasing risk to your life and advises what you need to do 

before, during and after a cyclone. The four alert stages are – blue, yellow, 

red and all clear.  

YELLOW 

ALERT

BLUE 

ALERT

RED  

ALERT

During a cyclone you can get alert information from

• Emergency Alerts at www.dfes.wa.gov.au

• DFES Information Line on 13 DFES (13 3337)

• www.bom.gov.au or by calling the Cyclone Warning Advice Line on 1300 659 210

• ABC radio and other local media

The cyclone 

danger has 

passed but 

take care
ALL  

CLEAR
LISTEN  

CAREFULLY 

and do what the 

alerts say to help 

keep safe.
DO NOT DRIVE ON RED ALERT – IT IS DANGEROUS

02
FACTSHEET  

Emergency Kit

For more information visit www.dfes.wa.gov.au or contact DFES Community Engagement 9395 9816

SUPPLIES FOR SHELTERING  

DURING A CYCLONE

You and your family must

■ Prepare an Emergency Kit

■ Check and replace food and water every  

12 months

■ Review your kit when a cyclone or flood  

alert is issued

An Emergency Kit is essential for short term survival (up to four days)

whether you choose to stay at home or need to relocate to safer 

accommodation. An Emergency Kit is a collection of items that are 

essential for your household’s needs in the event of any emergency.

Keep your kit in a sturdy bag or waterproof storage box, which is stored  

in a safe and easily accessible place.

START YOUR EMERGENCY KIT 

with the following items

■ Medication

■ First aid kit

■ Toiletries, sanitary supplies

■ Drinking water (to last at least four days)

■ Canned food (to last at least four days)

■ Portable, battery operated AM/FM radio

■ Waterproof torch

■ Spare batteries

A RELOCATION KIT IS AN ADDITION TO YOUR EMERGENCY KIT. 

A Relocation Kit contains the items you need to add to your Emergency Kit when you need to relocate to 

safer accommodation. Go to Fact Sheet 3 to find out about Relocation Kits.

CYCLONE AND FLOOD

A full list of Emergency Kit items can be 

found at www.dfes.wa.gov.au

REMEMBER TO  

CONSIDER YOUR PETS. 

What do they need?  

These items should be 

included in your  

Emergency Kit.

03
Factsheet  

Relocation Kit

For more information visit www.dfes.wa.gov.au or contact DFES Community Engagement 9395 9816

SuppliES For rEloCating to  
SaFEr aCCommoDation During  
a CyClonE

you and your family need to

■ Prepare a Relocation Kit

■ Identify items you will need to add to your 
kit before a cyclone or flood threatens

■ add these items to your kit when a cyclone 
or flood alert is issued

A Relocation Kit is an addition to your family’s Emergency Kit. A Relocation 
Kit is useful when you decide, or authorities advise you, that your life and 
property are at risk and you need to relocate to safer accommodation.

Store your kit in a safe place that is easily accessible.

CyClonE anD FlooD

relocation Kit items should 
include

■ Essential medications

■ Driver’s license, passports & insurance 
papers

■ Cash, debit and credit cards

■ Warm/spare clothes

■ Sleeping bags and bedding

a full list of Relocation Kit items can 
be found at www.dfes.wa.gov.au

IF you aRe RelocatIng to a welFaRe centRe – you muSt taKe youR own 
bEDDing, FooD and SuppliES wIth you. In most cases these wIll not be 
PRovIded FoR you.

Welfare centres will not 
allow pets (other than guide 
and assistance dogs). If you 
have pets you will need to 
consider where to relocate  
if your home is not safe.

Do you have well prepared 
family or friends that will allow you and your 
family, as well as your pets to shelter?

If your only option is to relocate to a welfare centre, leave 
your pets at home and secure them in the strongest part 
of your home with food and water.

Did you know? 
Welfare centres  

do not allow pets.

04
Factsheet  

Driving In Flood Waters

For more information visit www.dfes.wa.gov.au or contact DFES Community Engagement 9395 9816

Plan your triP ahEaD to EnSurE  you arE SaFE From FlooDwatErS

For road and weather conditions
■ Listen to ABC or local radio
■ Contact Main Roads on 138 138 or visit  www.mainroads.wa.gov.au
■ BoM Weather and Flood Warning Service on 1300 659 213 or visit www.bom.gov.au/wa

Driving on roads during or after a flood is extremely hazardous. Roads may 

be damaged, bridges destroyed and communities may be isolated by flood 

waters for days, weeks or months.Review your travel plans if the area you are travelling through has 
experienced recent flooding.

CyClonE anD FlooD

when driving through flood affected areas you muSt
■ Obey road closures and check road conditions
■ Not drive into water of unknown depth and current
■ Use a recommended route and do not hurry
■ Stay away from waterways and storm water drains
If your car stalls in rising water, abandon it immediately and go to higher ground

Dry river beds  and crossings  can be affected by  flash flooding

Keep your EmErgEnCy and rEloCation kitS with you. 
emergency and relocation Kit information can be found on cyclone and Flood safety factsheets 2 & 3.

The majority of flood-related deaths in Australia  
are a result of people entering floodwaters on foot,  
in vehicles and boats.
Floodwater can contain rubbish, snakes, dead animals, 
sewage and other contaminants. Avoid entering flood 
waters. If you must, always wear solid shoes and enter 
only when you have checked the depth and current. 
Stay away from all water, drains and culverts over knee-deep.

05
FACTSHEET  

Preparing Your Home and Property

For more information visit www.dfes.wa.gov.au or contact DFES Community Engagement 9395 9816

PREPARE YOUR HOME AND  
PROPERTY FOR CYCLONE AND FLOODS

Ask yourself
■  Does your home meet local council cyclone and 

flood standards?■ Is your home safe to stay in during a cyclone?

■ Are the walls, roof and eaves secure?
■ Are your shutters and locks working?

■ Does your property insurance cover you  

for cyclone and flood?

Preparing your family and your home for a cyclone is your responsibility.  

If you live in a cyclone prone area, you must make it a priority between  

May and October to get your home ready inside and out.
Before the cyclone season 
YOU MUST

■ Trim branches and treetops 
around your home■ Remove or secure loose items 

around your home■ Fix shutters or metal screens to  
all your glass windows and doors

■ Know how to switch off the 
electricity, gas and water

CYCLONE AND FLOOD

A full list of preparedness actions can 

be found at www.dfes.wa.gov.au

When a BLUE ALERT is issued, you need to start preparing your home for the possible  

threat of a cyclone. This includes securing all items outside such as your boat, caravan or trailer.

DID YOU KNOW? Not all homes are a safe 
place to be during a cyclone. 

Where will you go if your home is not well  prepared?

Photo courtesy Mark Rhodes photography

06
FACTSHEET  

Travelling During the Wet Season

For more information visit www.dfes.wa.gov.au or contact DFES Community Engagement 9395 9816

BE PREPARED AND PLAN YOUR  

TRIP AHEAD

Before you set off you must

■ Become familiar with the Cyclone 

Warning System and Alert information

■ Check road conditions and obey road 

closure signs (Main Roads 138 138)

■ Prepare an Emergency Kit – including 

a battery operated AM/FM radio

■ Know the local ABC radio channel for 

all areas you plan to travel
■ Tell someone about your travel plans

November to April is the wet season in Western Australia’s North West 

bringing with it the risk of tropical cyclones and associated flooding.  

Severe cyclones can cause widespread damage, injury and loss of life.

Cyclones and flooding are dangerous – if you are planning to travel in the 

cyclone season then you need to be prepared and plan ahead.

When a cyclone is coming community alerts will be issued on the radio and 

other media. Listen carefully and do what the alerts say to help keep safe.

When travelling during the wet season

■ Access www.bom.gov.au to monitor cyclone 

activity in the region and weather conditions

■ Listen to your radio and follow advice from 

authorities■ Use a recommended route and do not hurry

■ Do not drive into water of unknown depth

■ Do not park or camp in dry riverbeds

EXMOUTH to BROOME
has the highest incidence 

of cyclones anywhere in 

Australia. Later in the season 

areas at risk extend further 

south along the coast.

If you are travelling in a caravan you will be asked  

to leave the area prior to a cyclone approaching.  

You may not be able to tie down or anchor your 

caravan at a local caravan park.

CYCLONE AND FLOOD

Before  
incidents occur we focus 
on preparing our response 
personnel and community 
stakeholders in managing 
the inevitable consequences 
of emergencies..
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Professional Pathways – Establishing Operational Volunteer Pathways

The Professional 
Pathways – Design 
and Implementation 
Project commenced 
in January 2013.  
The project aims 
to enhance the 
access to training, 
skills enhancement 
and qualifications 
for all personnel to 

a consistent standard through a transparent 
process.

Pathway development for volunteer services 
to assist delivery and maintain emergency 
response services throughout Western Australia 
was identified as a priority. A hierarchy  
of Pathway roles has been established across 
volunteer emergency response capability.

Through consultation and coordination with 
volunteer and community stakeholders, the role 
based Pathways have clarified the expected 
minimum training standards and competencies 
to support successful hazard and emergency 
response to the community. The standards for 
the safe and effective response for emergency 
service personnel have been developed for each 
volunteer stream.

Community Benefits
The Incident Management Pathways uses local 
knowledge to build expertise and experience 
within volunteer and community response 
organisations. They provide a framework for 
training and exercising activities to operate 
with other agencies under a common 
Australasian Inter-Service Incident Management 
System framework.

Through joint training opportunities between 
communities and emergency management 
agencies, DFES seeks to increase community 
preparedness, capability and involvement.

The project provides communities with improved 
access to training programs via a simple easy 
to navigate website. In addition, DFES will offer 
e-learning to improve access to professional 
development and reduce the impact on 
volunteers’ time.

The Pathways initiative seeks to better serve 
communities in all aspects of preparedness, 
response and emergency recovery throughout 
the State.

…support successful hazard and emergency 
response to the community“ ”
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State Emergency Management Plans – Westplans
State Emergency Management Plans in Western Australia are known as Westplans and provide strategic, State level arrangements for managing the 
particular hazards to which they apply. Westplans are reviewed every five years, or as required. Reviews include extensive consultation with relevant 
stakeholders to ensure the plans are current and meet community and emergency service agency needs.

Interagency operational exercises are used to test Westplans and their frequency is determined by the State Emergency Management Committee. 
The formal operational activation of a Westplan may be considered as an exercise for this purpose. The exercises provide the opportunity to improve State 
preparedness by clarifying legislative responsibilities, testing systems and procedures, identifying training gaps and improving interagency cooperation.

The current status of Westplans is as follows:

Westplan Status 2013/14 Activations/Exercises

Westplan – Bushfire Revoked 21 August 2013 – (Exercise Hotspots) Multiagency Level 3 exercise activating State and 
Regional Operations Centres and Incident Management Teams. Revoked by SEMC on  
11 December 2013. The content of Westplan Bushfire and Westplan Urban Fire have been 
incorporated into the consolidated Westplan Fire.

Westplan – Fire Current 12 January 2014 – Parkerville.

12 January 2014 – Swan View.

3 February 2014 – Piara Waters.

24 February 2014 – Kangaroo Gully.

Westplan – CBRN (Chemical Biological 
Radiological and Nuclear)

Current 13 November 2013 – (Exercise Package) Multiagency exercise simulated a package being 
opened by Ministerial Staff, releasing white powder and contaminating the Minister and 
Staff.

9 April 2014 – (Exercise Day Binary) Multiagency National counter-terrorism exercise 
simulating a raid on a chemical warfare laboratory.

3 May 2014 – (Waterco Ltd. Balcatta) Hazmat fire at a pool chemicals supplier’s premises.

Westplan – Collapse Current 2 – 3 November 2013 – (Exercise Next Generation) Multiagency Level 3 exercise activating 
State and Regional Operations Centres.

Westplan – Earthquake Current 1 November 2013 – (Exercise Rattle) Multiagency Level 3 exercise activating State and 
Regional Operations Centres.
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Westplan Status 2013/14 Activations/Exercises

Westplan – Tropical Cyclone Under 
review

31 December 2013 – Tropical Cyclone Christine.

Westplan – Flood Current 7 – 10 February 2014 – Kununurra.

20 May 2014 – (Exercise Tempest) Multi region multiagency storm and flood exercise 
activating State and Regional Operations Centres.

Westplan – HAZMAT Current September 2013 – (Exercise White Cloud H13) Carried out as three separate night time 
events involving a Hydrogen Fluoride release at the BP Kwinana Refinery. Full activation 
of the Hazmat Emergency Advisory Team (HEAT) and Incident Support Groups (ISG) for 
each event.

28 January 2014 – Paraquat spill in Maddington and Kenwick. This incident affected 
multiple sites and was managed as two simultaneous Hazmat incidents.

3 May 2014 – (Waterco Ltd. Balcatta) Hazmat fire at a pool chemicals supplier’s premises.

Westplan – Tsunami Current Westplan Tsunami not exercised or activated in 2013/14. International/State exercise 
planned for 9 September 2014.

Westplan – Freight Subsidy Under 
review

Following a review, action has commenced to rescind this Westplan.

Westplan – Storm Current 20 May 2014 – (Exercise Tempest) Multi region multiagency storm and flood exercise 
activating State and Regional Operations Centres.

Westplan – Urban Fire Revoked Revoked by SEMC on 11 December 2013. The content of Westplan Bushfire and 
Westplan Urban Fire have been incorporated into the consolidated Westplan Fire.

Westplan – Telecommunications Under 
review

Westplan Telecommunications is currently under review.
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The National Strategy for Disaster Resilience 
highlights the collective responsibility of all 
sectors of society in preventing and mitigating 
the impact of emergencies.

In 2013/14, DFES’ prevention and mitigation 
services across the State have focussed on 
‘Shared Responsibility’ within the community. 
Supported by the State Government, this 
concept of a shared responsibility was a key 
focus of bushfire risk management initiatives led 
by DFES and OBRM.

This year OBRM developed a state wide 
Bushfire Prone Area Mapping Standard. Working 
alongside DFES, Department of Planning, 
Landgate and Department of Agriculture and 
Food. The process is underpinned by Australian 
Standard 3959 Construction of buildings in 
bushfire prone areas.

On a community level, three separate regional 
bushfire ready forums were held this year in high 
bushfire risk areas. Each forum was tailored to 
meet the specific needs of the local volunteers 
and communities and this approach was very 
well received.

Feedback received from around the State has 
been used to identify key program outcomes 
and actions to be completed as part of a five 
year strategy for Bushfire Ready.

Are You Ready? Bushfire campaign
The “Are you ready?” bushfire campaign aimed 
to raise community awareness, encourage the 
community to prepare for the bushfire season 
and take responsibility for their risk to bushfire.

In the first television media campaign promoting 
bushfire safety in WA, three 30 second 
commercials fronted by Victoria Cross recipient 
Ben Roberts-Smith were filmed.

Filming for the three commercials took place 
at the Western Australia Fire and Emergency 
Services Academy in Forrestfield, and featured 
representatives from DFES, DPaW, volunteer 
firefighter services and Western Power.

The “Are You Ready?” campaign began on 
Sunday 1 December 2013 and ran until Friday 
28 February 2014. Among a number of activities, 
the campaign included newspaper advertising, 
a coordinated media events calendar, a website 
and merchandising.

Click to view campaign advertisement
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Simulation Training Centre (SIMCEN)

A key component of the C3IS project, the 
newly established Western Australian Fire 
and Emergency Simulation Centre (SIMCEN) 
provides a safe learning environment where 
multi agency response teams can assess 
their capacity to manage major incidents by 
exercising their response to a diverse range of 
emergency events.

In the SIMCEN, emergency services personnel 
are subjected to a stringent regime of personal 
and team training. New command, control and 
coordination structures are supported by a 
comprehensive preparatory program designed 
to ensure personnel of the State Operations 
Centre, Metropolitan Operations Centre, 
Regional Operations Centres and Incident 
Management Teams are thoroughly prepared for 
their respective roles.

The training is categorised as:
• Individual training – conducted in accordance 

with the endorsed development pathway.
• Collective training – conducted in accordance 

with the operational rosters and schedules.

This training reflects the level of preparedness, 
response and recovery expected of the State’s 
pre-eminent emergency management agency.

The SIMCEN provides a facility dedicated 
to improving the emergency management 
capability for all Hazard Management Agencies 
with Interoperability-Based Training.Training exercise being conducted in the SIMCEN

… improving the emergency management capability 
for all Hazard Management Agencies“

”
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Emergency Services 
Legislation Review
Development of the new Emergency Services 
Legislation continues.

Public consultation on the Concept Paper 
commenced on 16 April 2014 and closes at the 
end of July 2014. During the public consultation 
period, meetings were held between DFES staff 
and representatives of stakeholders, including 
local governments across Western Australia.

As at 30 June 2014, DFES had received 639 
comments. While the Concept Paper has had a 
generally positive response, two areas of public 
concern identified so far are:
• The cost of implementation across 

stakeholder groups.
• The level of liability protection for emergency 

services staff, volunteers and others carrying 
out hazard mitigation obligations.

During the consultation period, work has 
commenced on preparation of the Decision 
Paper and Drafting Instructions for Cabinet.

Metropolitan Volunteer Fire and 
Rescue Service Brigade
The capacity to increase response resources 
as significant incidents escalate can be a 
challenge for emergency services organisations. 
DFES has an extensive network of response 
personnel, including more than 1,100 career 
firefighters and 27,000 emergency services 
volunteers. Coordination of response crews to 
provide support to local teams during surge 
periods without creating coverage gaps is 
often complex.

The new Metropolitan Volunteer Fire and 
Rescue Service Brigade was registered on 
1 October 2013, and is based at the Western 
Australia Fire and Emergency Services Academy 
in Forrestfield. The Brigade has multi-hazard 
skills including firefighting and logistics.

The Brigade is unique as it does not have a 
defined fire district, allowing greater flexibility 
for deployment. With 40 active and 12 support 
members, the Brigade has a State wide 
capability to respond and support Brigades 
across West Australia as the need arises.

The Brigade is activated by the Metropolitan 
Operations Centre. During 2103/14 members 
provided response support to incidents at 
Toodyay, Parkerville and Atwell.

Kimberley Fire Management 
Trial Approved
In July 2013, WALGA Kimberley and four 
Kimberley Local Government Authorities (LGAs) 
requested DFES undertake a three year trial for 
the transfer of bushfire control in the Kimberley 
to DFES. The trial commenced in August 
2013 to coincide with the start of the northern 
bushfire season.

During the trial, DFES will assist the LGAs to 
manage and control bushfire brigades and 
bushfire and emergency services within the 
Kimberley Region. The arrangement addresses 
the administration, management, training and 
incident response activities of brigades in 
the Region.

During the trial period there is no requirement for 
LGAs to transfer the management and control of 
fires to DFES and coordination of the response 
will be managed by DFES. However, legislative 
responsibilities under the Bush Fires Act 1954, 
and management of the Local Government 
Grants Scheme processes remain with the LGA.

Preliminary feedback from the LGAs has been 
positive and the trial arrangements continue to 
work well.
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Crew Protection

A four year program to provide a  
comprehensive crew protection system“

”

Safety of operational response personnel is a 
major priority for DFES.

In October 2012 DPaW responded to a fire 
known as Black Cat Creek. Four firefighters 
were injured during a burnover incident with 
two of the firefighters receiving serious burns. 
Tragically, one of the firefighters later died of 
her injuries.

As a consequence, DFES reviewed safety 
measures to protect firefighters exposed to  
high risk entrapment situations.

Burnover or entrapment occurs as a result 
of a sudden and unpredictable change in fire 
behaviour, trapping the crew of a fire appliance.

In the absence of any other structure, the 
firefighting appliance is considered to provide 
relative safety for the crew.

Appliances that are appropriately designed 
provide firefighters with a greater chance of 
surviving a burnover or entrapment event.

Based on research, DFES has selected a 
combination of measures that together provide 
a comprehensive crew protection system.  
The system has been subjected to extensive 
testing and evaluation by Commonwealth 
Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation 
(CSIRO), New South Wales Rural Fire Service, 
South Australian Country Fire Service and 
Victorian Country Fire Authority.

A four year program to improve crew protection 
systems commenced in July 2013. A tender 
for the provision and installation of internal 
radiant heat resistant shields over the next 
two years has been awarded and a tender for 
deluge system, critical component lagging and 
in-cab breathing systems has been issued to 
the market.

DFES is also determining functional 
specifications for new technology that 
will enable a fully integrated, effective and 
reliable vehicle tracking system in a bush 
firefighting environment.

CSIRO test burn of a fire appliance fitted without crew protection 
measures
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Functional specifications, expected to be 
completed in the second half of 2014, will 
be tendered and procured separately and 
integrated with other components.

To date DFES have installed:
• Burnover blankets in all 1,230 identified 

appliances.
• Internal radiant heat shields and lagging of 

critical appliance components in 91 new local 
government appliances.

Lagging of critical appliance components has 
been retrofitted in a further 32 local government 
appliances. Over the next three years, DFES will 
complete the installation of:
• Internal radiant heat resistant shields.
• In-cab breathable air.
• Water spray protection covering the cab, 

pump, rear tray and wheels.
• External heat protection and lagging of critical 

appliance components.
• Replacement of cab chassis plastic 

components with metal.
• GPS tracking systems.

At the end of the four year project, all new and 
identified high risk appliances throughout the 
State (667) will be fitted with a crew protection 
system that provides the most survivable 
environment in case of a bushfire burnover or 
entrapment situation.

CSIRO test burn of a fire appliance fitted with crew protection measures
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Sharing Information across Emergency Services
Launched in November 2013, the site 
was made available to all DFES staff and 
volunteer brigades, groups and units and key 
stakeholder groups.

Feedback has been positive with registered 
users regularly logging onto the site and 
frequently accessing information throughout the 
fire season.

2013 WA Fire and Emergency 
Services Conference
From 20 to 22 September 2013, 548 volunteer 
delegates from all services and regions attended 
the third annual WA Fire and Emergency 
Services Conference, hosted by DFES.

The theme of ‘A Collaborative Future:  
The Changing Face of Emergency Services’ 
had a key focus of how emergency services can 
better prepare and respond to future extreme 
weather events. The conference looked at the 
importance of working together to tackle the 
shared challenges that emergency services 
face, particularly the changing needs of the 
community and environment.

The program included presentations, panel 
discussions, workshops, exhibitor booths, 
appliance displays and demonstrations and 
award ceremonies.

Participant feedback indicates the conference 
was a great success and that a proud culture 
of professional development exists in the 
emergency services volunteer community.

As part of DFES’ role in protecting the 
community, we work to ensure that all 
emergency service agencies and responders 
are aware of the hazards within the community. 
Working in a dynamic environment, emergency 
services share information and business 
improvements on an ongoing basis. Two 
ways this is achieved are the Seasonal 
Outlook and the WA Fire and Emergency 
Services Conference.

Seasonal Outlook 2013/14
Historically DFES has hosted an annual forum 
dedicated to the cyclone and southern bushfire 
seasonal outlook for DFES staff and volunteers, 
State and local government agencies, public 
utilities and other community members.

Attending the event presented challenges for 
metropolitan and regionally based attendees 
in our dynamic emergency services operating 
environment.

In response, this year DFES replaced the forum 
with a dedicated webpage covering a range of 
topics relevant to fire and emergency services. 
Delivered in a ‘flipbook’ style presentation, 
information covered at the forum was made 
available on-line.

Delegates across emergency service agencies participate at the conference
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Operational Overview
Bushfire
While the 2013/14 southern bushfire season 
was somewhat quieter than previous years, the 
State’s fire and emergency services continued 
to respond to complex and challenging incidents 
across Western Australia, demonstrating a 
strong collaborative approach to emergency 
management and community safety.

On 12 January 2014, volunteer and career 
fire crews from local government, DPaW and 
DFES responded to a significant bushfire in the 
Parkerville, Stoneville, Mt Helena area. As a 
result of their efforts no lives were lost or serious 
injuries reported. While 57 residential properties 
were extensively damaged in the fire, more than 
400 properties were saved.

The State Emergency Management Committee 
(SEMC) led a joint review into the incident with 
representatives from DFES, the Department 
of the Premier and Cabinet, experienced 
officers from the three firefighting agencies, an 
independent and knowledgeable consultant and 
two experts from other jurisdictions.

The review focussed on acknowledging areas 
that worked well, as well as identifying areas 
for improvement. A total of 28 opportunities for  
improvement were identified for all the agencies 
involved in the incident. 

The full report can be found here. The SEMC 
has also released a communiqué summarising 
the key learnings from the report.

During the same period, there were five other 
major bushfires and a structural fire in the 
Perth metropolitan area as well as a number of 
incidents in regional WA. April 2014 saw further 
significant bushfires in the Swan Valley.

Storms and Cyclones
The southern storm season commenced 
with emergency services in the Goldfields 
responding to flooding caused by heavy rain in 
July 2013.

DFES staff and local SES and VES volunteers 
were deployed during Severe Tropical Cyclone 
Christine which crossed the coast between 
Karratha and Port Hedland around midnight on 
31 December 2013.

The Category 3 system resulted in strong 
destructive winds, heavy rain and dangerous 
storm tides.

Remote communities in the system’s path were 
relocated to Welfare Centres at Port Hedland, 
South Hedland, Marble Bar and Karratha.

Floods
In February 2014, extensive flooding in 
Kununurra resulted in the town becoming 
inundated with nearly a metre of floodwater. 
Fire and Emergency Services personnel 
battled a compromised sewerage system 
impacting drinking water supplies, as well as 
unprecedented amounts of water from the 
town’s dam.

Rescue
The SES’ cooperative effort with paramedics, 
firefighters and the emergency rescue helicopter, 
RAC Rescue, in October 2013 resulted in a 
dramatic and difficult cliff rescue of a man at 
Sixty Foot Falls Trail in the suburb of Martin. 
Other missions included searches for missing 
persons across the State ranging from 
Pemberton to Clackline through to Bidyadanga.

In April 2014, SES air observers made a notable 
and valuable contribution to the international, 
multiagency search and rescue mission led 
by the Australian Government to find missing 
Malaysian Airlines flight MH370.

Marine Rescue volunteers were also at the 
forefront of extreme and challenging search 
missions. This included the rescue of four 
people near Dirk Hartog Island after their boat 
capsized under treacherous conditions and the 
rescue of three fishermen from a sunken fishing 
boat off Rottnest Island.
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Command, Control, Coordination and Information Systems

… the DFES reform program 
designed to improve emergency 
services delivery to the Western 
Australian community

The provision of effective emergency response 
services is contingent on the ability to maintain 
a trained, organised and appropriately 
equipped workforce, regardless of the scale of 
the incident.

The Command, Control, Coordination and 
Information Systems (C3IS) project aims 
to enhance the command, control and 
coordination activities of DFES to respond 
to and manage incidents where the Fire and 
Emergency Services Commissioner is the 
Hazard Management Agency. The C3IS project 
will continue to be progressed during 2014/15.

The project is a significant component of the 
DFES reform program designed to improve 
emergency services delivery to the Western 
Australian community. 

It addresses a number of recommendations 
contained in the Report of the Perth Hills 
Bushfire February 2011 Review, and is intended 
to further improve the unified command model 
used in Western Australia. The C3IS project 
is being delivered in close consultation with 
WAPOL, DPaW and local governments across 
the State.

The C3IS project has a number of components, 
including revision of operational response 
structures, development of an all hazard 
simulation facility for multiagency use, enhancing 
daily and incident reporting and implementation 
of a new incident management tool.

The outcomes of the project will benefit the 
community in a number of ways:
• Enhanced multiagency preparedness to 

respond to incidents throughout the State.
• State wide consistency in emergency 

response delivery.
• Timely resource allocation for combating 

incidents.
• Common operating picture between 

emergency service agencies and local 
government.

• Optimal reporting arrangements:
• Ensuring the community receives the most 

up to date information.
• The earliest activation of recovery activities 

post incident.
• Enhanced multiagency response, through 

improved information sharing during 
significant emergencies.

“
”
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Aerial suppression capacity supporting ground 
crews in the event of a bushfire has been a key 
component of DFES’ firefighting strategy for 
many years.

During the 2012/13 year more than 3,800 
bushfires occurred across the State. A total 
of 2,500 drops were made by rotary aircraft, 
protecting more than 250 properties.

In recent years, DFES has been supplementing 
its aerial capacity through seasonal contract 
arrangements. In 2013/14 the Department was 
able to secure the permanent addition of the 
Erickson Sikorsky 64A Aircrane through ESL 
funding of $12 million.

The aerial fleet now has a total water bombing 
capacity of 48,600 litres.

DFES’ aerial fleet has been boosted by the permanent addition of the Erickson Sikorsky 64A Aircrane.

Aerial Firefighting Capacity Increased
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False Fire Alarm Management 
Implementation
The False Fire Alarm Management 
Implementation project is a result of a review of 
DFES’ management of attendances by DFES 
and volunteer crews to premises in response to 
multiple false alarms.

Currently, response to an alarm by DFES crews 
assumes a life critical incident. Repeated false 
alarm calls result in tying up DFES’ critical 
response resources.

Implementation of the project will see DFES 
align with other states nationally and commence 
charging a monetary fee for repetitive false 
alarm attendances.

The first stage of the implementation will be a 
three month pilot project undertaken at Perth 
Fire Station and volunteer brigades in the 
Northam area.

Following the conclusion of the pilot project 
and a review of findings, it is expected that full 
implementation of the project will commence at 
the end of the 2014/15 financial year.

Firefighters’ Memorial 

In what has become an annual event, DFES 
hosted a memorial service at the Firefighters’ 
Memorial Grove in Kings Park to mark 
International Firefighters’ Day on 4 May 2014.

The event is a celebration of the career and 
volunteer firefighters who proudly serve their 
community and acknowledges the contributions 
and sacrifices of Western Australia’s dedicated 
fire service men and women. It is also a time of 
reflection to honour those who have given their 
lives in the course of duty.

This years’ service included the unveiling of 
two life size bronze statues modelled on real 
West Australian firefighters. The realisation of 
this project has only been made possible by the 
generous contributions from the Association of 
Bush Fire Brigades, DFES, DPaW, the United 
Firefighters Union West Australian Branch and 
the West Australian Volunteer Fire and Rescue 
Services Assocation. The addition of the statues 
pays tribute to firefighters in memoriam who 
have protected this State and its people.

Firefighters’ memorial in Kings Park, Perth
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Informing the Community
Market research conducted following major 
incidents during 2013/14 have recommended 
changes to the way that information is provided 
to the community during emergencies.

It was found that the West Australian alerts 
and warnings are valued by the community as 
they give more specific information regarding 
impending or immediate threats to property or 
life than other states and detail how community 
members should respond. Therefore the West 
Australian style alerts are more likely to produce 
action by the community.

While the West Australian alert and warning 
system was more popular, the research 
provided 15 suggestions for improvements 
including increasing alert frequency once 
initiated, increasing alert awareness within the 
community and providing mechanisms for 
alert feedback.

One direct outcome is that DFES has 
now adopted a new public number for the 
information phone line (13 DFES or 13 3337) as 
the research indicated that the former number 
was too long and difficult to remember.

Winning the Global Firefighters 
and Paramedics Challenge
A combined career Fire and Rescue Service and 
St John Ambulance team were successful in 
winning the Global Firefighters and Paramedics 
Challenge in September 2013. The international 
event, held in Singapore, was attended by 
representatives from eighteen countries. 
The teams were tested during a simulated 
scenario, involving extrication and casualty 
management techniques.

The Challenge also enables firefighters 
worldwide to share their knowledge. The team 
was also invited to attend a series of lectures 
and workshops on building collapse and 
technical operations at the world class training 
facilities of the Singaporean Civil Defence Force.

Improved Support Arrangements 
for Firefighters
A range of initiatives were implemented by the 
State Government to support firefighters across 
the State.

These initiatives included the development 
and implementation of a $1 million Volunteer 
Hardship Assistance Scheme to provide 
financial assistance to emergency services act 
volunteers in time of hardship.

Amendments to legislation are also before 
Cabinet to address anomalies regarding 
insurance coverage for volunteers across all 
emergency services. Currently, volunteers from 
different services attending the same or similar 
incident do not have the same level of insurance 
coverage. The new legislation will cover lost 
benefits, earnings and death or specified injury 
payments.

Currently any serving career firefighter who 
develops cancer is required to provide proof 
of the link between firefighting and cancer in 
order to submit a workers’ compensation claim. 
Legislation is currently being progressed to 
provide compensation for any former career 
firefighter and any current or former volunteer 
firefighter who develops one of 12 prescribed 
cancers in prescribed circumstances.
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DFES Juniors and Cadets – the Next Generation
By involving young people in emergency 
training at a young age, they are more likely to 
develop positive attitudes towards emergency 
preparedness for themselves and their families 
which can lead to increased community 
preparedness and resilience.

The youth programs are important for 
recognising young people’s connection to 
emergency services and in developing our 
next generation.

Absentee Landowners Research
Following the recent bushfires in the Lower 
South West Region, DFES commissioned 
research into the profile of absentee landowners 
to gauge their understanding of bushfire risk and 
their attitudes to preparing their properties for 
this hazard. This is the first research of its kind 
in Australia.

A snapshot of the findings regarding absentee 
landowner properties include:
• 62 percent are unoccupied for more than five 

months a year.
• 45 percent do not occupy their property at all.
• 20 percent of owners take no action in 

preparing their property for bushfire.
• Nearly 40 percent of owners take between 

one and three actions in preparing their 
property for bushfire.

• 80 percent of owners accept responsibility for 
preparing their own property.

In the Augusta-Margaret River Shire it is 
estimated that upwards of 50 percent of 
homes are owned by absentee landowners. 
This increases to approximately 80 percent in 
Bremer Bay.

This level of absentee ownership represents 
a significant challenge to the preparation and 
response in high bushfire risk communities.

The research findings will be used in the 
development of programs for this target group.

Juniors and cadets within emergency services 
bring personal, organisational and community 
benefits by channelling youthful energy and 
harnessing it for community good. Integrating 
young people into an emergency organisation, 
through well-managed socialisation and 
engagement has the potential to create 
emotional and social bonds which may guide 
later preferences towards volunteering in the 
person’s future.

Representatives from our juniors and cadets being the next generation of volunteers, DFES staff and Emergency Services Cadet instructors.
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Grant for JAFFA Resource
DFES and Royal Perth Hospital Adult Burns 
Unit have been successful in securing $15,000 
community grant from the Julian Burton 
Burns Trust.

The grant has been used to produce a Juvenile 
and Family Fire Awareness (JAFFA) program 
DVD to help reduce the incident of juvenile fire 
lighting and burns injuries in young people.

Arson accounts for almost half of all known 
causes of bushfires in Australia, of which 20 
percent of ignitions are believed to have been 
started by juveniles. Juveniles are also believed 
responsible for lighting a significant proportion of 
structure fires.

As well as helping to mitigate the effects of 
juvenile fire lighting, the DVD also aims to 
increase appropriate first aid knowledge and 
decrease damage or loss of property.

Child Safety Award Winners
Four firefighters were recognised at the 
Constable Care Child Safety Awards for their 
contributions to protecting children from harm 
and creating child safe environments.

Station Officer Mark Papadopoff received the 
WA Police and Emergency Services Child 
Safety Award for his work in raising fire safety 
awareness in culturally diverse communities. 
His successful program targets fire in the 
home education.

Station Officer John Landwehr was recognised 
as a finalist in the WA Child Safety Volunteer 
Award category and received a certificate of 
merit for his work with the JAFFA program.

Chris and Maxine O’Connell of the Tom Price 
Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service were also 
nominated in this category for their development 
of an effective and culturally sensitive education 
program for Aboriginal communities.

41Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2013/14



Disclosures and Legal Compliance
Financial Statements

Certification of Financial Statements
The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the year ended 30 June 2014 and the 
financial position as at 30 June 2014.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements misleading 
or inaccurate.

G Camarda BCom, CPA W Gregson APM, BA, MBA
Chief Finance Officer Accountable Authority
25 August 2014 25 August 2014
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2014

 Note 2014 2013 
  $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 175,689 107,453
Supplies and services 7 89,227 67,193
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 16,245 8,798
Finance costs 9 3,012 2,656
Accommodation expenses 10 7,701 5,542
Grants and subsidies 11 39,919 18,242
Other expenses 12 3,172 3,119
Impairment Loss 30 12,316 11,585

Total cost of services  347,281 224,588

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 13 280,830 162,339
Commonwealth grants and contributions 14 4,435 4,909
Interest revenue 15 120 49
Other revenue 16 3,299 1,763

Total Revenue  288,684 169,060

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 17 372 103

Total Gains  372 103

Total income other than income from State Government  289,056 169,163

NET COST OF SERVICES  58,225 55,425
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Statement of Comprehensive Income  
For the year ended 30 June 2014 (continued)

 Note 2014 2013 
  $000 $000

Income from State Government 18
Service appropriation  50,688 19,529
Services received free of charge  1,029 442
Royalties for Regions Fund  371 362

Total income from State Government  52,088 20,333

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD  (6,137) (35,092)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 35 7,463 24,593
Gains recognised directly in equity  6 – 

Total other comprehensive income  7,469 24,593

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD  1,332 (10,499)

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Comparative results are for the eight month period ending 30 June 2013.
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Statement of Financial Position  
As at 30 June 2014

  2014 2013 
 Note $000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 19 72,022 57,924
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20 2,908 2,634
Inventories 21 21,295 24,507
Receivables 22 5,133 3,431
Other assets 23 518 507
Amounts receivable for services 25 5,000 5,000
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 24 – 17,372

Total Current Assets  106,876 111,375

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20 1,700 – 
Amounts receivable for services 25 14,433 15,002
Property, plant and equipment 26, 27, 30 309,836 297,949
Intangible assets 28 93 214
Other non-current assets 29 811 – 

Total Non-Current Assets  326,873 313,165

TOTAL ASSETS  433,749 424,540

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 31 9,216 7,612
Borrowings 32 3,337 33,944
Provisions 33 18,076 19,380

Total Current Liabilities  30,629 60,936
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2014 (continued)

  2014 2013 
 Note $000 $000

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 32 65,716 50,262
Provisions 33 8,973 7,985
Other non-current liabilities 34 811 – 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  75,500 58,247

TOTAL LIABILITIES  106,129 119,183

NET ASSETS  327,620 305,357

EQUITY 35
Contributed equity  336,787 315,856
Reserves  32,056 24,593
Accumulated deficit  (41,223) (35,092)

TOTAL EQUITY  327,620 305,357

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity  
For the year ended 30 June 2014

    Accumulated  
  Contributed  surplus/ Total 
  equity Reserves (deficit) equity 
 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 November 2012 (as previously reported) 35 383,974 – – 383,974

Correction of prior period errors
 Distribution to owners (see note 2(z))  (67,957) – – (67,957)

Restated balance at 1 November 2012  316,017 – – 316,017

 Deficit for the period  – – (35,092) (35,092)
 Other comprehensive income  – 24,593 – 24,593

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  – 24,593 (35,092) (10,499)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
 Distributions to owners  (161) – – (161)

Total  (161) – – (161)

Restated balance at 30 June 2013  315,856 24,593 (35,092) 305,357

Balance at 1 July 2013  315,856 24,593 (35,092) 305,357
 Deficit for the year  – – (6,137) (6,137)
 Other comprehensive income  – 7,463 6 7,469

Total comprehensive income for the period  – 7,463 (6,131) 1,332

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
 Capital appropriations  24,980 – – 24,980
 Other contributions by owners  (113) – – (113)
 Distributions to owners  (3,936) – – (3,936)

Total  20,931 – – 20,931

Balance at 30 June 2014  336,787 32,056 (41,223) 327,620

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows  
For the year ended 30 June 2014
  2014 2013 
 Note $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Payments
Transfer of net assets to sub-department SEMC  (3,505) – 
Receipts
Service appropriation (a)  46,257 19,464
Capital appropriations  24,980 – 
Holding account drawdowns  5,000 1,668
Royalties for Regions Fund  371 362

Net cash provided by State Government  73,103 21,494

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits  (175,355) (105,723)
Supplies and services  (87,923) (59,467)
Finance costs  (2,449) (1,829)
Accommodation  (7,701) (6,331)
Grants and subsidies (a)  (36,707) (24,287)
GST payments on purchases  (14,501) (9,919)
Other payments  (3,155) (3,448)
Receipts
User charges and fees  279,289 181,401
Commonwealth grants and contributions  4,435 4,909
Interest received  118 284
GST receipts on sales  1,559 673
GST receipts from taxation authority  12,871 9,359
Other receipts  3,030 1,763

Net cash used in operating activities 36 (26,489) (12,615)
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Statement of Cash Flows  
For the year ended 30 June 2014 (continued)

  2014 2013 
 Note $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets  (16,182) (12,845)
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  793 155
Other proceeds  – 500

Net cash used in investing activities  (15,389) (12,190)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Repayment of borrowings  (26,995) (1,178)
Receipts
Proceeds from borrowings  11,842 10,739

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  (15,153) 9,561

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (a)  16,072 6,250
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period (a)  60,558 54,308

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 36 76,630 60,558
(a) Comparative figures has been restated as per note 2(z).

The Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Comparative results are for the eight month period ending 30 June 2013.
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service  
For the year ended 30 June 2014
 Prevention Emergency  
 Services Services Total
 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 26,973 12,894 148,716 94,559 175,689 107,453
Supplies and services 10,052 6,821 79,175 60,372 89,227 67,193
Depreciation and amortisation expense 2,218 1,035 14,027 7,763 16,245 8,798
Finance costs 411 313 2,601 2,343 3,012 2,656
Accommodation expenses 1,046 665 6,655 4,877 7,701 5,542
Grants and subsidies 2,091 2,189 37,828 16,053 39,919 18,242
Other expenses 2,125 2,942 13,363 11,762 15,488 14,704
Total cost of services 44,916 26,859 302,365 197,729 347,281 224,588

Income
User charges and fees 38,347 18,150 242,483 144,189 280,830 162,339
Commonwealth grants and contributions 606 549 3,829 4,360 4,435 4,909
Interest revenue 16 5 104 44 120 49
Other revenue 450 197 2,849 1,566 3,299 1,763
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 51 12 321 91 372 103
Total Income other than income from State Government 39,470 18,913 249,586 150,250 289,056 169,163
NET COST OF SERVICES 5,446 7,946 52,779 47,479 58,225 55,425

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 6,921 2,343 43,767 17,186 50,688 19,529
Services received free of charge 141 49 888 393 1,029 442
Royalties for Regions Fund 51 40 320 322 371 362
Total Income from State Government 7,113 2,432 44,975 17,901 52,088 20,333
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 1,667 (5,514) (7,804) (29,578) (6,137) (35,092)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Comparative results are for the eight month period ending 30 June 2013.
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service  
As at 30 June 2014

 Prevention Emergency  
 Services Services Total
 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets
Current assets 14,594 13,111 92,282 98,264 106,876 111,375
Non-current assets 44,635 13,983 282,238 299,182 326,873 313,165

Total assets 59,229 27,094 374,520 397,446 433,749 424,540

Liabilities
Current liabilities 4,182 7,173 26,447 53,763 30,629 60,936
Non-current liabilities 10,310 6,857 65,190 51,390 75,500 58,247

Total liabilities 14,492 14,030 91,637 105,153 106,129 119,183

NET ASSETS 44,737 13,064 282,883 292,293 327,620 305,357

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates  
For the year ended 30 June 2014
 2014 2014  2014 2013  
 Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Delivery of Services
Item 111Net amount appropriated to deliver services 35,202 49,786 14,584 49,786 19,516 30,270
Section 25 transfer of service appropriation – (65) (65) (65) – (65)
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes

 – Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 967 967 – 967 13 954

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 36,169 50,688 14,519 50,688 19,529 31,159

Capital
Item 173 Capital appropriations 880 24,980 24,100 24,980 – 24,980

Administered Transactions
Item 112 Administered grants, subsidies and other transfer payments 15,000 12,423 (2,577) 12,423 105,660 (93,237)

Total administered transactions 15,000 12,423 (2,577) 12,423 105,660 (93,237)

GRAND TOTAL 52,049 88,091 36,042 88,091 125,189 (37,098)

Details of Expenses by Service
Prevention Services 39,701 44,916 5,215 44,916 29,461 15,455
Emergency Services 285,937 302,365 16,428 302,365 195,127 107,238

Total Cost of Services 325,638 347,281 21,643 347,281 224,588 122,693
Less Total Income 287,545 289,056 1,511 289,056 169,163 119,893

Net Cost of Services 38,093 58,225 20,132 58,225 55,425 2,800
Adjustments (1,924) (7,537) (5,613) (7,537) (35,896) 28,359

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 36,169 50,688 14,519 50,688 19,529 31,159
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates  
For the year ended 30 June 2014 (continued)
 2014 2014  2014 2013  
 Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 27,468 16,182 (11,286) 16,182 12,845 3,337
Repayment of borrowings 36,090 26,995 (9,095) 26,995 1,178 25,817
Adjustments for other funding sources (62,678) (18,197) 44,481 (18,197) (14,023) (4,174)

Capital appropriations 880 24,980 24,100 24,980 – 24,980

Details of Income Estimates
Income disclosed as Administered Income 15,000 12,423 (2,577) 12,423 37,703 (25,280)

 15,000 12,423 (2,577) 12,423 37,703 (25,280)

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.
Note 41 ‘Explanatory statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2014 and between the actual results 
for 2014 and 2013.
The Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES) was established on 1 November 2012 as one of the key recommendations from the Perth Hills 
Bushfire February 2011 Review.
As consequence, the Department was operating for 8 months in the financial year 2012-13 under the same treasury budget.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
1 Australian Accounting Standards

General
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 
The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Department has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not 
operative) by the Department for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2014.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement
The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. 
Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of financial statements and 
take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of 
the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting 
financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except for land and buildings which 
have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless 
otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the process of applying the 
Department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation (continued)
Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Department of Fire and Emergency Services.

Mission
The Department’s mission is to improve community safety practices and provide timely, quality and effective emergency services, in partnership with the 
people of Western Australia.

Services
Services 1: Prevention and Mitigation Services
Provision of prevention and mitigation services to increase community awareness of human and natural hazards, and involvement in minimising 
their impact.

Services 2: Emergency Services
Provision of emergency services to enable rapid and effective response to emergency incidents to minimise their impact.

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, 
other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the 
time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions 
by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions 
by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal (see note 35 ‘Equity’).
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities 
as follows:

Emergency Services Levy
The Emergency Services Levy (ESL) funds Western Australia’s fire and emergency services. The majority of the ESL is raised and collected by local 
government authorities (LGA) on behalf of the Department by including it on their council rates notices. The ESL is calculated on the Gross Rental Value 
(GRV) of most urban properties, with a fixed rate charge per property in rural and remote areas. The Department raises assessment notices during 
the financial year for the ESL directly for properties owned by the State Government (General Sector), Local Governments and State Government 
instrumentalities (corporations) for large corporations.

LGAs either remit the ESL to the Department on a monthly basis as they collect it (Option A), or enter into a memorandum of understanding (Option B) 
authorised by the Minister and pay the ESL they assess to DFES in four quarterly instalments (30%, 30%, 30% and 10%) or one annual instalment. The 
annual payment option is generally selected by local governments that raise a small amount of ESL and wish to further simplify the ESL administrative 
arrangements.

All LGAs submit a Declaration of Annual Emergency Services Levy Billing Assessment Profile Return (Form A) within 14 days of issue of rates notices. 
Revenue is recognised when an invoice is issued to the LGAs. See note 13 ‘User charges and fees’.

Direct Brigade Alarm
The DFES Direct Brigade Alarm (DBA) network monitors over 3400 premises across Western Australia. Categories of monitored premises include (but not 
limited to):
• Commercial properties
• Schools/Universities
• Hospitals
• Aged Care facilities
• High Rise buildings

Fire Safety Pty Ltd trading as Fire Alarm Monitoring Services (FAMS) – Chubb delivers customer service, administration (including annual billing and debt 
management) and 24/7 monitoring services to DFES and all DFES’ monitored customers.

The recovery of the DBA monitoring charge is based on a full cost recovery methodology and the revenue is recognised at the time of raising the invoice 
for the service.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Income (continued)
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser 
and can be measured reliably.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of the appropriated funds. 
The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable 
for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. See note 18 ‘Income from State Government’.

Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control of the Department. In accordance 
with the determination specified in the 2013–14 Budget Statements, the Department retained $288.7 million in 2014 ($169.1 million in 2013) from 
the following:
• proceeds from fees and charges;
• sale of goods;
• Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; and
• other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised 
when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would have been purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Department obtains control over the funds. The Department 
obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the Department’s bank account.

Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some 
revaluations of non-current assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

(g) Property, plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over 
their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings and historical cost for all other 
property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment 
losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market values determined by reference 
to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against 
the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This normally applies where buildings 
are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated 
replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. Fair value for restricted use land 
is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable 
unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised annually 
to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in 
determining estimated economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between 
market type assets and existing use assets. See note 26 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and 35 ‘Equity’ for further information.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset 
revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as described in note 26 ‘Property, 
plant and equipment’ and note 35 ‘Equity’.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption 
of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable 
asset are:
Buildings 40 years
Vehicles 5 – 20 years
Plant and equipment 3 – 10 years

Works of art controlled by the Department are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are anticipated to have indefinite useful lives. Their 
service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and consequently no depreciation has been recognised.

Leasehold improvements of a capital nature are classified as property, plant and equipment. The leasehold improvement is depreciated over the 
lease term.

Land is not depreciated.

(h) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost 
of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Intangible assets (continued)
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) 
on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Licences up to 10 years
Software(a) 3 to 5 years
(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

Licenses
Licenses have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related 
hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the period of acquisition.

(i) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an 
indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered to 
be impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss 
is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified 
as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling, 
or where there is significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of asset is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

The Department tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment at the end of each 
reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Impairment of assets (continued)
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference 
to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and 
the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. See note 30 
‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.

(j) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, and are disclosed 
separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised. See note 24 ‘Non-
current assets classified as held for sale’.

(k) Leases
Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair 
value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed 
as plant, equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciated over the period during which the Department is expected to benefit from their use. 
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate 
implicit in the lease.

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties 
and services. See note 7 ‘Supplies and services’ and note 38 ‘Commitments’.

(l) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instrument:
• Loans and receivables; and
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial Assets
• Cash and cash equivalents
• Restricted cash and cash equivalents
• Receivables
• Amounts receivable for services
• Other financial assets
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(l) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial Liabilities
• Payables
• Western Australian Treasury Corporation borrowings
• Deferred revenue

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent 
measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material. See note 32 ‘Borrowings’ and note 42 ‘Financial instruments’.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand 
and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value. See note 19 ‘Cash and cash equivalents’.

(n) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a week of the end of 
the reporting period. The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value. See note 31 ‘Payables’.

(o) Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less any allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of 
receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance 
for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. See note 2(l) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 22 ‘Receivables’.

(p) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account receivable). The 
accrued amount is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement. See note 18 ‘Income 
from State Government’ and note 25 ’Amounts receivable for services (holding account)’.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(q) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most appropriate for each particular class 
of inventory.

The inventory held for consumption is measured on a weighted average cost basis.

The inventory held for distribution represents fire appliances under construction for local governments as part of the ESL capital grants process. The 
inventory held for distribution is measured at cost. Grant expenses are recognised when the fire appliances are delivered to the local governments. See 
note 21 ‘Inventories’ and note 11 ‘Grants and subsidies’.

(r) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets 
or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days. See note 2(l) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 31 
‘Payables’.

(s) Borrowings
All loans payable are initially recognised at fair value, being the net proceeds received. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. See note 2(l) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 32 ‘Borrowings’.

(t) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. See note 33 ‘Provisions’.

Provisions – employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long-term 
employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as 
employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.
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(t) Provisions (continued)
Provisions – employee benefits (continued)
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore recognised and measured 
at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as 
employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as 
non-current liabilities because the Department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the 
requisite years of service.

Deferred Leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months leave in the 
fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on 
the same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB), the Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Fund (FESSF) and other fund providers 
administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership 
in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates.

The FESSF is a superannuation fund available to employees of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services. Membership is also available to 
employees of the United Firefighters Union of Western Australia, the Western Australian Volunteer Fire Brigades Association (Inc.), and the Fire and 
Emergency Services Superannuation Board (FESSB). The FESSB is a trustee of the Fund and is responsible for managing the fund in the best interest of 
members and for ensuring the fund is managed in accordance with its governing legislation; the Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Act 1985 
and the Fire and Emergency Services (Superannuation Fund) Regulations 1986. The liability for superannuation charges is extinguished by payments of 
employer contributions to the FESSF.
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(t) Provisions (continued)
Members can make additional voluntary contributions to an accumulation account and are payable in addition to any defined benefit entitlement. 
Contributing members who have reached the age of 55 or completed 30 years of contributing membership can elect to transfer their defined benefit into 
their accumulation account.

The Department also makes employer contributions to the FESSF during the year. The FESSF is a defined benefit scheme for the purpose of employees 
and is a defined contribution plan for the Department. The concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Department to the FESSF 
extinguishes the Department’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory 
members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the 
GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been able to choose their 
preferred superannuation fund provider. The Department makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance with 
the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the 
Department’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for 
agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to 
the related superannuation liability.

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer 
benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by 
concurrent contributions made by the Department to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share. See note 
2(v) ‘Superannuation expense’.
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(t) Provisions (continued)
Provisions – other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised as liabilities and expenses when the 
employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Supplies and Services’ and are not included as part of 
the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. See note 12 ‘Other expenses’ and 
note 33 ‘Provisions’.

(u) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Department would otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at 
fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets 
are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. See note 18 ‘Income from State Government’.

(v) Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to 
the Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Fund (FESSF), the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS) (concurrent contributions), the West 
State Superannuation (WSS), and the Government Employees Superannuation Board Scheme (GESBS), or other superannuation funds. The employer 
contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.

(w) Establishment of volunteer entities
(i) Volunteer Emergency Service Units
Volunteer Emergency Service Units are formed in accordance with Part 3 of the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.

(ii) Volunteer State Emergency Service Units
Volunteer State Emergency Service Units are formed in accordance with Part 3A of the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.

(iii) Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service Brigades
Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service Brigades are formed in accordance with the Fire Brigades Act 1942.

(iv) Volunteer Fire Service Brigades
Volunteer Fire Service Brigades are formed in accordance with Part 3 of the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.
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(w) Establishment of volunteer entities (continued)
(v) Volunteer Marine Rescue Service Groups
Volunteer Marine Rescue Service Groups are formed in accordance with Part 3 of the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.

(vi) Indian Ocean Territories Services
In accordance with the Indian Ocean Territories Law Reform Ordinance, the Department provides capital and operating support to the Volunteer Fire and 
Emergency Service Brigades and Volunteer Marine Rescue Service Groups operating on Christmas Island and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands. The costs 
associated with this support are recouped from the Commonwealth Government.

(y) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where applicable, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.

DFES was established on 1 November 2012. Consequently, the comparative figures are for the 8 months period ended 30 June 2013.

The outlays made under Western Australia Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements (WANDRRA) are not consistent with the functions 
prescribed within the Fire and Emergency Services legislation. Consequently, this function has been accounted for as an administered fund in the current 
financial year. The function was not correctly accounted for and recognised as an administered fund in the prior period. The error has been corrected by 
restating the grants and subsidies by $105.66m (reduction) and service appropriation revenue by $37.703m, resulting in a restatement of the 2013 deficit 
and comprehensive loss by $67.957m (reduction).

Refer to note 2 (z) ‘Restatement of comparatives and correction of prior year errors’ for line items effected in 2012/13 financial statements. Also see note 
48 ‘Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service’ for full disclosure of WANDRRA income and expenses.

68Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2013/14



Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(z) Restatement of comparatives and correction of prior year errors
To improve the consistency of information provided to users, the Department acknowledges that the WANDRRA function should have been recognised as 
an administered function in the financial period ended 30 June 2013. As such, WANDRRA administered income and expenses have been removed from 
the respective 2013 comparative figures. In addition employee housing subsidies expense has been more appropriately classified under employee benefits 
expense rather than accommodation expense.

The impact associated with the restatement of these comparative line items is provided below.
  Increase/ 2013 
 2013 (Decrease) (Restated) 
 $000 $000 $000

Statement of Comprehensive Income (extract)
Employee benefits expense  106,664 789 107,453
Accommodation expenses  6,331 (789) 5,542
Grants and subsidies  123,902 (105,660) 18,242

Total cost of services  330,248 (105,660) 224,588

NET COST OF SERVICES  161,085 (105,660) 55,425

Service appropriation  57,232 (37,703) 19,529

Total income from State Government  58,036 (37,703) 20,333

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD  (103,049) 67,957 (35,092)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE PERIOD  (78,456) 67,957 (10,499)

Statement of Financial Position (extract)
Contributed equity  383,813 (67,957) 315,856
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)  (103,049) 67,957 (35,092)

TOTAL EQUITY  305,357 – 305,357
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(z) Restatement of comparatives and correction of prior year errors (continued)
  Increase/ 2013 
 2013 (Decreased) (Restated) 
 $000 $000 $000

Statement of Cash Flows (extract)
Service appropriation  57,167 (37,703) 19,464

Net cash provided by State Government  59,197 (37,703) 21,494

Grants and subsidies  (129,947) 105,660 (24,287)

Net cash used in operating activities  (118,275) 105,660 (12,615)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (61,707) 67,957 6,250
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  122,265 (67,957) 54,308

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD  60,558 – 60,558

3 Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting policies that have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Department evaluates these judgements regularly.

4 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Department’s long service leave provision include expected future salary rates, discount 
rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amounts of 
the long service leave provision.

Depreciation
The Department estimates the useful lives of non-current assets in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
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Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013 that 
impacted on the Department.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and requires additional disclosures for assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value. There is no financial impact.

AASB 19 Employee Benefits
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements.

The Department assessed employee leave patterns to determine whether annual leave is a short-term or other long-term employee benefit. 
The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is not material.

AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards
This Standard supersedes AASB 1048 (June 2012), enabling references to the Interpretations in all other Standards to be updated by 
reissuing the service Standard. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-8  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 
117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]
This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the 
result of issuing AASB 13 in September 2011. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-10  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and 
Int 14]
This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in 
September 2011. The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is 
not material.
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Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard (continued)
AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards-Disclosures-Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132]
 This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include information that will enable users of an entity’s financial statements 

to evaluate the effect of potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the entity’s recognised financial 
assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s financial position. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2]
 This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a consequence of the annual 

improvements process. There is no financial impact.
AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 

2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8]
 This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015 (instead of 1 January 2013). 

Further amendments are also made to numerous consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that will now apply from 1 January 
2015. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 1048 arising from the Withdrawal of Australian Int 1039
 The withdrawal of Int 1039 Substantive Enactment of Major Tax Bills in Australia has no financial impact for the Department during the 

reporting period and at balance date. Measurement of tax assets and liabilities continues to be measured in accordance with enacted or 
substantively enacted tax law pursuant to AASB 112.46-47.

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 
108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049 & 2011-7 and Int 12]

 This Standard introduces a number of editorial alterations and amends the mandatory application date of Standards for not-for-profit 
entities accounting for interest in other entities. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments.
 Part A of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from revisions to the Australian Accounting Conceptual 

Framework for periods ending on or after 20 December 2013. Other Parts of this Standard become operative in later periods. There is no 
financial impact for Part A of the Standard.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the Department has not applied early any of the following Australian 
Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Department. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply these Australian 
Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

Int 21 Levies
This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a government levy imposed should be 
recognised. There is no financial impact for the Department at reporting date.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard was amended to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and 
Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments. The adoption of the new Standard 
has no financial impact for Department of Fire and Emergency Services as it does not impact accounting for related 
bodies and the department has no interests in other entities.

1 Jan 2014
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure requirements in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint ventures.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. There is no financial 
impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 1031 Materiality
This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian guidance on materiality not available in 
IFRSs and refers to guidance on materiality in other Australian pronouncements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting
This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the general purpose financial statements of not-for-profit 
entities within the General Government Sector. The Department will be required to disclose additional budgetary 
information and explanations of major variances between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no 
financial impact.

1 Jul 2014

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 
123, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 10 & 12]

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 
108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a 
result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.

AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 January 2015. The Department has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards 
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]
This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate 
Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and joint Ventures. For not-for profit entities it applies to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The Department has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting 
[AASB 139]
This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in circumstances where a derivative, which has been 
designated as a hedging instrument, is novated from one counter party to a central counterparty as a consequence of 
laws or regulations. The Department of Fire & Emergency Services does not routinely enter into derivatives or hedges, 
therefore there is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit entities – 
Control and Structured Entities [AASB 10, 12 & 1049]. 
This amendments, issued in October 2013, provide significant guidance in determining whether a not-for-profit entity 
controls another entity when financial returns are not a key attribute of the investor’s relationship. The Standard has no 
financial impact in its own right, rather the impact results from the adoption of the amended AASB 10.

1 Jan 2014

5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments.
The omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 1031 
in other Standards for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 
January 2017 (Part C). The application date of AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. 
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9, otherwise there is no financial 
impact for Part B.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jul 2014

Changes in accounting estimates
There were no changes in accounting estimates that will have an effect on the current reporting period.

5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

6 Employee benefits expense

Wages and salaries (a)  152,950 92,297
Protective clothing and uniforms  4,259 3,358
Superannuation – defined contribution plans: (b)

Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Board  14,984 9,471
Government Employees Superannuation Board  1,657 1,148
Other Superannuation Funds  – 3

Other related expenses (c)  1,839 1,176

  175,689 107,453
(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component. This amount also includes redundancy payments for the 2013/14 

year of $6m.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB Super Scheme (contribution paid), FESS Fund (contribution paid) and other eligible funds.

(c) Comparative figures has been restated as per Note 2(z).

Employment on-costs expenses such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at note 12 ‘Other expenses’.

Employment on-costs liability is included at note 33 ‘Provisions’.

7 Supplies and services

Administration  3,577 2,620
Advertising and promotion expense  255 237
Communications  4,206 2,314
Consultants and contractors  22,135 17,264
Electricity and water expense  2,357 1,462
Insurance premiums and claims  8,970 6,186
Leases  23,713 20,675
Maintenance  19,966 13,793
Travel  4,048 2,642

  89,227 67,193
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

8 Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
Buildings  4,767 2,473
Vehicles  9,451 5,037
Plant and equipment  1,706 1,040
Leasehold improvements  221 148

Total depreciation  16,145 8,698

Amortisation
Intangible assets  100 100

Total amortisation  100 100

Total depreciation and amortisation  16,245 8,798

9 Finance costs

Interest expense  3,012 2,656

Finance cost expensed  3,012 2,656

10 Accommodation expenses

Lease rentals (a)  909 594
Repairs and maintenance  6,792 4,948

  7,701 5,542
(a) Comparative figures has been restated as per Note 2(z).

78Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2013/14



Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

11 Grants and subsidies

Recurrent
Local governments  10,880 4,409
Private fire brigades  207 194
Natural Disaster Resilience Program (NDRP) and All West Australians Reducing Emergencies program (AWARE) (a)  – 2,677
Grants and subsidies paid to volunteer entities and external bodies in line with approved schemes, agreements and statutes:
 – Various volunteer entities (b)  776 158
 – Volunteer Marine Rescue Service Group (VMRSG)  1,330 725
 – Affiliated bodies (c)  1,726 62
 – Local government – Community Emergency Services Manager (CESM)  1,944 1,065
 – Other grants and subsidies  1,466 241
Capital (d)

Local governments  20,825 8,364
Volunteer Marine Rescue Service Groups  765 347

  39,919 18,242
(a) NDRP and AWARE have been transferred to SEMC on 1 July 2013. Comparative figures has been restated as per Note 2(z).

(b) See note 2(w) ‘Establishment of volunteer entities’.

(c) See note 45 ‘Affiliated bodies’.

(d) The majority of capital assets represent fire appliances built and transferred free of charge to local governments funded by the Emergency Services Levy to facilitate the state fire and emergency services.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

12 Other expenses

Doubtful debts expense  (6) 70
Employment on-costs  3,031 3,008
Audit fees  147 41

  3,172 3,119

13 User charges and fees

User charges  7,743 4,480
Emergency services levy  273,087 157,859

  280,830 162,339

See note 2(e) ‘Income’.

14 Commonwealth grants and contributions

Recurrent  4,408 4,873
Capital  23 – 
Other  4 36

  4,435 4,909

Commonwealth grants are received for various purposes including non-repayable grants that contribute towards DFES’ operational capabilities such as 
the state support package, aerial fire fighting and the Indian Ocean Territories. See note 47 ‘Indian Ocean Territories’.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

15  Interest revenue

Short term deposits  – 51
Gift and trust funds  2 1
Emergency services levy  118 (3)

  120 49

16  Other revenue

Employee cost recovery  906 873
Sponsorship and donations  676 372
Non reciprocal contributed assets  857 250
Grants  71 56
Recoupment (a)  291 88
General revenue (b)  498 124

  3,299 1,763
(a) It is mainly related to insurance claims.

(b) It is mainly attributable to the disposal of appliances and obsolete items.

17  Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Plant, equipment and vehicles  (421) (52)
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Plant, equipment and vehicles  793 155

Net gain  372 103

Loss on disposal of non-current assets  (150) (19)
Gain on disposal of non-current assets  522 122

Net gain on disposal of non-current assets  372 103
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

18  Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a)  50,688 19,529
Services received free of charge from other State Government agencies during period:

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)  920 368
State Solicitor’s Office  109 74

Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Community Services Account (b)  371 358
Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account  – 4

  52,088 20,333
(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the 

period and any agreed increase in leave liability during the period. 
Comparative figures has been restated as per Note 2(z).

(b) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

19 Cash and cash equivalents

Current
Cash at bank  71,981 57,883
Cash on hand and advances  41 41

  72,022 57,924

See note 2(m) ‘Cash and cash equivalents’.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

20  Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current
Gift fund (a)  91 74
Rental property bonds (b)  1 3
Coolgardie Trust Fund (c)  285 279
Bushfire Risk Mitigation Plan Process Project (d)  535 1,050
WANDRRA (e)  – 1,096
Royalties for Regions Fund  1,996 132

  2,908 2,634
(a) Employees contribute a gold coin donation for a weekly dress down day. The Gift fund makes annual donations to nominated charities.

(b) Bonds held as part of residential tenancy agreements.

(c) Monies held in trust by the Department on behalf of the beneficiary, Coolgardie Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service Brigade. The Fund is made available to facilitate and enhance the fire services and activities of the Brigade. 
See note 31 ‘Payables’.

(d) Project funded through National Disaster Resilience Program administered by SEMC.

(e) See note 48 ‘Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service’.

Non-current
53rd pay (f)  1,700 – 

  1,700 – 
(f) Funds held for the purpose of meeting the 53rd pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.

83Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2013/14



Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

21 Inventories

Current
Inventories held for consumption (a)  2,000 1,843
Inventories held for distribution (b)  19,295 22,664

  21,295 24,507
(a) Inventories held for consumption are measured at cost using the average cost method.

(b) Inventories held for distribution represent fire appliances under construction as part of the Emergency Services Levy capital grants process. These inventories are measured at cost. See note 2(q) ‘Inventories’.

22 Receivables

Current
Receivables  3,437 1,883
Allowance for impairment of receivables  (70) (104)
Accrued revenue  5 66
Interest receivable  3 1
GST receivable  1,758 1,585

Total current  5,133 3,431

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period  104 34
Doubtful debts expense  (6) 70
Amounts written off during the period  (28) – 

Balance at end of period  70 104

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.
See note 2(o) ‘Receivables’ and note 42 ‘Financial instruments’.

23 Other assets

Prepayments (a)  518 507

Total  518 507
(a) Prepayments include insurance, computer maintenance and licences, fleet registration and association subscriptions.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

24 Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Opening balance
Land (a)  17,372 6,993
Buildings (a)  – 21,643

  17,372 28,636

Improvement  – 33
Impairment loss (b)  (12,260) (11,297)

  (12,260) (11,264)

Assets reclassified
Land (c)  (5,112) – 

  (5,112) – 

Closing balance
Land  – 17,372

  – 17,372
(a) FESA House Sale of Contract was entered in December 2013 with a deposit of $800k paid and held in the lawyer’s interest bearing trust account and settlement scheduled in the 2017-18 financial year. As a result, the non-current 

asset held for sale was reclassified as Land with its current net present value of future cash flow as its approximated fair value. See note 2(j) ‘Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale’, note 29 ‘Other non-
current assets’ and note 34 ‘Other non-current liabilities’.

(b) See note 30 ‘Impairment of assets’.

25 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

Current  5,000 5,000
Non-current  14,433 15,002

Total  19,433 20,002

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave 
liability. See note 2(p) ‘Amounts receivable for services (holding account)’.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

26  Property, plant and equipment
Land
At fair value (a)  93,828 85,291
Buildings
At fair value (a)  135,438 126,511
  135,438 126,511

Buildings under construction
Construction costs  5,586 7,752

Vehicles
At cost  72,451 61,520
Accumulated depreciation  (14,325) (5,030)
  58,126 56,490

Vehicles under construction
Construction costs  9,786 9,344

Plant and equipment
At cost  8,458 7,280
Accumulated depreciation  (2,695) (1,040)
  5,763 6,240

Plant and equipment under construction
Construction costs  911 5,453

Leasehold improvements
At cost  607 858
Accumulated depreciation  (367) (148)
  240 710

Works of Art
At cost  158 158
Total  309,836 297,949
(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2013 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) with the exception of FESA House. See Note 24 ‘Non-current assets classified as held for sale’.  

The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2014 and recognised at 30 June 2014. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $11,459,000 (2013: $11,030,300) 
and buildings: $37,093,900 (2013: $35,548,000). For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost and fair value of land was determined on the basis of current use and 
net present value of future cash flow for FESA House site.
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26  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table 
below.

Land Buildings

Buildings 
under 

construction Vehicles

Vehicles 
under 

construction
Plant and 

equipment

Plant and 
equipment 

under 
construction

Leasehold 
Improve-

ments Works of Art Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

June 2014
Carrying amount as at start of period  85,291  126,511  7,752  56,490  9,344  6,240  5,453  710  158  297,949 
Additions(Deductions)  8,186  409  7,293  253  311  16,452 
Transfers  1,635  8,299  (10,352)  11,042  (6,851)  1,080  (4,853)  –
Other disposals  (277)  (371)  (117)  (249)  (1,014)
Revaluation increments/(decrements)  1,790  5,672  7,462 
Depreciation  (4,767)  (9,451)  (1,706)  (221)  (16,145)
Reclassification (a)  5,112  7  13  5,132 
Carrying amount at end of period  93,828  135,438  5,586  58,126  9,786  5,763  911  240  158  309,836 

June 2013
Carrying amount as at 1 November 2012 (b)  77,707  109,307  6,556  46,196  18,557  4,535  6,027  608  158  269,651 
Additions(Deductions)  6,671  273  5,459  190  (93)  250  12,750 
Transfers  173  2,471  (5,475)  15,110  (14,672)  2,909  (481)  35 
Other disposals  (161)   (52)  (52)  (265)
Revaluation increments/(decrements)  7,572  17,021  24,593 
Depreciation  (2,473)  (5,037)  (1,040)  (148)  (8,698)
Reclassification  185  (302)  (117)
Carrying amount at end of period  85,291  126,511  7,752  56,490  9,344  6,240  5,453  710  158  297,949 

(a) During the year, FESA House land was reclassified from non-current assets held for sale. See note 24 'Non-current assets classified as held for sale'.

(b) The Department was established on 1 November 2012. The carrying amounts at 1 November 2012 represents the balances transferred from the former Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia (FESA).
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27  Fair value measurements
      Fair Value at 
Assets measured at fair value:   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 end of period 
2014   $000 $000 $000 $000

Land (Note 26)   – 15,433 78,395 93,828
Buildings (Note 26)   – 37,941 97,497 135,438

   – 53,374 175,892 229,266

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period.

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of Land and Buildings (Office Accommodation) are derived using the market approach. Market evidence of sales prices of comparable 
land and buildings (office accommodation) in close proximity is used to determine price per square metre.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
  Land Buildings 
2014  $000 $000

Fair Value at the beginning of the year  75,099 88,978
Additions  1,635 7,698
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss  – – 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income  1,661 4,752
Transfers (from/(to) Level 2)  – – 
Disposals  – (277)
Depreciation Expense  – (3,654)

Fair Value at the end of the year  78,395 97,497

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss, under ‘Other Gains’  – – 

Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period – – 
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27 Fair value measurements (continued)

Valuation processes
There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. Transfers are 
generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s instructions require valuations of land, buildings and 
infrastructure to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an asset less 
accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, and 
optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable replacement cost of 
a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.

For some specialised buildings, the current replacement cost is determined by reference to the historical cost adjusted by relevant indices.

Fair value for restricted use land is based on market value, by either using market evidence of sales of comparable land that is unrestricted less restoration 
costs to return the site to a vacant and marketable condition (low restricted use land), or, comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility 
(high restricted use land).

Significant Level 3 inputs used by the Department are derived and evaluated as follows:

Historical cost per square metre floor area (m2)
The cost of constructing specialised buildings with similar utility are extracted from financial records of the Department, then indexed by movements in CPI.

Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
These are estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

Selection of land with restricted utility
Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility. Relevant comparators of land with low 
level utility are selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).
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27 Fair value measurements (continued)

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Description and fair value 
as at 30 June 2014 
$000 Valuation technique(s) Unobservable inputs

Range of unobservable inputs 
(weighted average)

Relationship of unobservable 
inputs to fair value

Land ($78,395) Market Value and 
Hypothetical Alternate Land 
Use Value Approach

Selection of land with similar 
approximate utility

$0.1 – $3,600 per m2 
($123 per m2)

Restricted utility reduces 
estimated fair value.

Higher value of similar 
land increases estimated 
fair value

Buildings ($97,497) Depreciated 
Replacement Cost

Consumed economic 
benefit/ obsolescence 
of asset

2.5% – 33.3% per year 
(5.3% per year)

Greater consumption 
of economic benefit or 
increased obsolescence 
lowers fair value.

Historical cost per square 
metre floor area (m2)

$54 – $3,115 per m2 

($862 per m2)
Higher historical cost per m2 
increases fair value.

Reconciliations of opening and closing balances are provided in Note 26.

Basis of Valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non-financial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use and disposal 
when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific 
community service.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

28 Intangible assets

Computer software
At cost  279 314
Accumulated amortisation  (186) (100)

  93 214

Reconciliations:
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period  214 176
Additions  – 138
Disposals/adjustments  (21) – 
Amortisation expense  (100) (100)

Carrying amount at end of period  93 214

29 Other non-current assets

Non-current
Deposit held in trust account (a)  811 – 

Total  811 – 
(a) See note 24 ‘Non-current assets classified as held for sale’ and note 34 ‘Other non-current liabilities’.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

30  Impairment of assets

FESA House (a)   12,260   11,297
Plant and equipment   56   288

Total impairment loss   12,316   11,585
(a)  Impairment loss of $12.6m was realised as at 30 June 2014 and related to the write down of the FESA House land. An impairment loss of $11.3m was realised in 2012/13 relating to write down of FESA House building previously 

recognised as a non-current asset held for sale.

 The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

31  Payables

Current
Trade payables  6,081 5,015
Accrued interest  563 827
Accrued salaries  2,097 1,424
Coolgardie Trust Fund  286 279
Income received in advance  20 – 
GST payable  169 67

Total current  9,216 7,612

See note 2(r) ‘Payables’, note 2(n) ‘Accrued salaries’, note 20 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’ and note 42 ‘Financial instruments’.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

32  Borrowings
Current
Western Australian Treasury Corporation borrowings  3,337 33,944

Non-current
Western Australian Treasury Corporation borrowings  65,716 50,262

33  Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provision

Annual leave (a)  7,060 7,260
Long service leave (b)  8,621 9,758
Deferred salary scheme (c)  423 285

  16,104 17,303
Other provisions

Employment on-costs (d)  1,972 2,077
  18,076 19,380

Non-current
Employee benefits provision

Long service leave (b)  7,914 7,054
Other provisions

Employment on-costs (d)  1,059 931
  8,973 7,985
(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  6,842 6,964
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  218 296

  7,060 7,260
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

33  Provisions (continued)
(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  2,072 2,950
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  14,463 13,862

  16,535 16,812
(c)  Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  – – 
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  423 285

  423 285
(d)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value 

of expected future payments.

 The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 12 ‘Other expenses’.

Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial period, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period  3,008 3,406
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised  23 (398)
Carrying amount at end of period  3,031 3,008

See note 2(t) ‘Provisions’.

34 Other non-current liabilities
Non-current
Deferred revenue (a)  811 – 
Total  811 – 
(a) Deferred revenue represents the sale of FESA House deposit held by Landcorp’s lawyer as part of the terms and conditions of the Contract of Sale. Settlement is scheduled for 2017-18 Financial Year.

See note 24 ‘Non-current assets classified as held for sale’ and note 29 ‘Other non-current assets’.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

35  Equity

The Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the 
Department. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period  315,856 – 
Transfer of net assets from FESA (a)  – 316,017
Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation  24,980 – 

Total contributions by owners  24,980 – 

Distributions to owners
Transfer of net assets to other agencies
Derby Fire Station building at 35 Clarendon Street, Derby transferred to Department of Lands  (182) (161)
Leased office at 20 Southport Street, West Leederville transferred to SEMC Secretariat  (249) – 
NDRP program funding balance transferred to SEMC Secretariat  (3,505) – 

Total distributions to owners  (3,936) (161)

Adjustments (b)  (113) – 

Balance at end of period (a)  336,787 315,856
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

35  Equity (continued)

Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of period  24,593 – 
Net revaluation increments

Land  1,791 7,572
Buildings  5,672 17,021

Balance at end of period  32,056 24,593

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of period  (35,092) – 
Result for the period (a)  (6,137) (35,092)
Adjustments (b)  6 – 

Balance at end of period  (41,223) (35,092)

Total Equity at end of period  327,620 305,357
(a) Comparative figures has been restated as per Note 2(z).

(b) DFES conducted a comprehensive fire appliances stocktake and Indian Ocean Territories analytical review, of which resulted in the derecognition of assets in prior years.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

36  Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash at the end of the financial period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 19 ‘Cash and cash equivalents’)  72,022 57,924
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 20 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’)  4,608 2,634

  76,630 60,558

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
Net cost of services (a)  (58,225) (55,425)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8 ‘Depreciation and amortisation expense’)  16,245 8,798
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 17 ‘Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets’)  (372) (103)
Services received free of charge (note 18 ‘Income from State Government’)  1,029 442
Doubtful debt expense (note 12 ‘Other expenses’)  (6) 70
Impairment loss (note 30 ‘Impairment of assets’)  12,316 11,585
(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (b)  (1,543) 19,297
Other assets  (280) 6,400
Current inventories  3,212 (6,045)
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (b)  1,522 3,071
Current provisions  (1,304) (253)
Non-current provisions  988 (565)
Change in GST in receivables/payables (c)  (71) 113

Net cash used in operating activities (a)  (26,489) (12,615)
(a) Comparative figures has been restated as per Note 2(z).

(b) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the 
reconciling items.

(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

37  Services provided free of charge

During the period the following services were provided to State Emergency Management Committee Secretariat:
Financial, human resources, information technology and corporate support services  485 – 

  485 – 

38  Commitments

The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.
Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year  27,613 7,000
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  27,686 18,751

  55,299 25,751

The capital commitments include amounts for:
Buildings  54,505 24,268
Plant and equipment  794 1,483

  55,299 25,751

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year  4,761 7,139
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  4,899 5,681
Later than 5 years  424 – 

  10,084 12,820

DFES’s fleet, aviation services, commercial and residential leases account for the majority of the non-cancellable operating lease commitments. The fleet 
lease term varies depending on the vehicle.
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39  Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contaminated sites
The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the financial statements.

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Department is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of 
Environment Regulation (DER). In accordance with the Act, DER classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment 
and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated – remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, the 
Department may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

In 2006/07 the Fire and Emergency Services Authority (FESA was transitioned to Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES) on 1 November 
2012) reported one contaminated site to DER. The site is a former drum storage area at the DFES Training Centre located at Dundas Road, Forrestfield. 
The Department is unable to assess the likely outcome of the classification process. It is not practicable to estimate the potential financial effect or to 
identify the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflows. The Department has applied and received funding from the Contaminated Sites 
Management Account to undertake further investigative work.

In August 2008, a contract was awarded to a qualified consultant to undertake a Detailed Site Investigation (DSI) including soil and gas vapour surveys. 
In October 2008, an accredited contaminated sites auditor was also appointed to provide a mandatory audit report as part of the DSI. The DSI was 
completed late 2009 and the comprehensive report delivered to FESA mid-2011. The report indicates no immediate need for site remediation, but this may 
be a consideration in future depending on site development plans.

Golder Associates was commissioned by Landgate on behalf of DFES to develop a Site Management Plan (SMP) for future contamination monitoring and 
guidelines which can be referenced when conducting future works on the site. LandCorp has appointed Waves Environmental as the auditor to review the 
draft Site Management plan in May 2014 as requested by DER.

The Audit will allow all parties (DFES, DER & Landgate) to review the final SMP and enact accordingly.

40  Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2014 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the department’s operations, the 
results of those operations, or the department’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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41  Explanatory statement

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial statement titled ‘Summary of 
Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates’ are shown below: Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% 
or $5 million.

Total appropriations provided to deliver services
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2014
 2014 2014 
 Estimate Actual Variation 
 $000 $000 $000

Net amount appropriated to deliver services (a) 35,202 49,786 14,584
Prevention Services (a) 39,701 44,916 5,215
Emergency Services (a) 285,937 302,365 16,428
Capital appropriation (b) 880 24,980 24,100
Administered grants, subsidies and other transfer payments (c) 15,000 12,423 (2,577)

(a) The variances are mainly due to an increase in DFES’s expense limit to address budget shortfalls including funding for the Air Crane, voluntary severance scheme and supplementary funding for bushfire suppression and 
State Emergency Services Response and Recovery Operations.

(b) The variance mainly relates to an equity contribution received for the repayment of borrowing associated with the sale of the FESA house site.

(c) The variance is due to the transfer of the Western Australia Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements (WANDRRA) to the Department for Premier and Cabinet on 1 April 2014.

Significant variances between actual results for 2014 and 2013
 2014 2013 
 Actual Actual Variation 
 $000 $000 $000

Net amount appropriated to deliver services 49,786 19,516 30,270
Prevention Services 44,916 29,461 15,455
Emergency Services 302,365 195,127 107,238
Total Income 289,056 169,163 119,893

The Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES) was established on 1 November 2012 as part of a key recommendation from the ‘A Shared 
Responsibility The Report of the Perth Hills Bushfire February 2011 Review’. The 2013 actual figures reflect the income and expenses incurred during the 
last 8 months of that financial year.
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41  Explanatory statement (continued)

Capital Contribution
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2014
No variance in Capital contribution.

Significant variances between actual results for 2014 and 2013
 2014 2013 
 Actual Actual Variation 
 $000 $000 $000

Capital appropriations 24,980 – 24,980

The variance is mainly due to the capital contribution used for repaying of borrowings associated with the sale of the FESA House site.

Total administered transactions
Significant variances between actuals results for 2014 and 2013
 2014 2013 
 Actual Actual Variation 
 $000 $000 $000

Total administered expenses 12,423 105,660 (93,237)

The variance is mainly due to the numbers of activities and the timing of claims process.

Administered Income
Significant variances between actuals results for 2014 and 2013
 2014 2013 
 Actual Actual Variation 
 $000 $000 $000

Income disclosed as administered income 12,423 37,703 (25,280)

The variance is mainly due to the numbers of activities and the timing of claims process.
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42  Financial instruments

(a)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, Western Australian Treasury 
Corporation (WATC) borrowings, receivables and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 
the Department.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying 
amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at note 42(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 22 
‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding 
account). For receivables other than government, the Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies 
in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were 
no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure 
that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

42 Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 
Department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department does not trade in foreign currency 
and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The Department’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates 
relates primarily to long-term debt obligations.

All borrowings are due to the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) and are repayable at fixed rates with varying 
maturities. Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 42(c), the Department is not exposed 
to interest rate risk as the majority of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and it has no 
borrowings other than the WATC borrowings.

(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting 
period are:

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  72,022 57,924
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  4,608 2,634
Other financial assets (a)  811 – 
Receivables (b)  22,808 21,849
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  78,911 91,751

(a) See note 29 ‘Other non-current assets’.

(b) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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42  Financial instruments (continued)

(c)  Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk
The following table discloses the Departments’ maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of 
financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of 
the Department.

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.

Ageing analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
Amount 

$000

Not past 
due and 

not impaired 
$000

Up to 1 month 
$000

1 – 3 months 
$000

3 – 12 months 
$000

1 – 5 years  
$000

More than 
5 years 
$000

Impaired 
financial assets 

$000

2014

Cash and cash equivalents 72,022 72,022 – – – – – –

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents

4,608 4,608 – – – – – –

Receivables (a) 3,375 1,904 541 806 117 7 – –

Amounts receivable for services 19,433 19,433 – – – – – –

Other financial assets 811 811 – – – – – –

100,249 98,778 541 806 117 7 – –

2013

Cash and cash equivalents 57,923 57,923 – – – – – –

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

2,634 2,634 – – – – – –

Receivables (a) 1,847 1,793 49 1 – 4 – –

Amounts receivable for services 20,002 20,002 – – – – – –

82,406 82,352 49 1 – 4 – –
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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42 Financial instruments (continued)

(c) Financial instrument disclosures (continued)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. 
The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate 
%

Carrying 
Amount 

$000

Fixed 
interest rate 

$000

Variable 
interest rate 

$000

Non-interest 
bearing 

$000

Nominal 
Amount 

$000

Up to 
1 month 

$000

1 – 3  
months 

$000

3 – 12 
months 

$000
1 – 5 years 

$000

More than 
5 years 
$000

2014

Financial Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents – 72,022 – – 72,022 72,022 72,022 – – – –

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents 2.81 4,608 – 376 4,232 4,608 4,608 – – – –

Receivables (a) – 3,375 – – 3,375 3,375 3,375 – – – –

Amounts receivable 
for services – 19,433 – – 19,433 19,433 – – 5,000 5,000 9,433

Other financial 
assets 2.85 811 – 811 – 811 – – – 811 –

100,249 – 1,187 99,062 100,249 80,005 – 5,000 5,811 9,433

Financial Liabilities

Payables – 9,047 – – 9,047 9,047 9,047 – – – –

WATC borrowings 4.15 69,053 6,951 62,102 – 69,053 723 – 2,614 20,893 44,823

Deferred revenue 2.85 811 – 811 – 811 – – – 811 –

78,911 6,951 62,913 9,047 78,911 9,770 – 2,614 21,704 44,823
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate 
%

Carrying 
Amount 

$000

Fixed 
interest rate 

$000

Variable 
interest rate 

$000

Non-interest 
bearing 

$000

Nominal 
Amount 

$000

Up to 
1 month 

$000

1 – 3  
months 

$000

3 – 12 
months 

$000
1 – 5 years 

$000

More than 
5 years 
$000

2013

Financial Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents – 57,923 – – 57,923 57,923 57,923 – – – –

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents 0.92 2,634 – 353 2,281 2,634 2,634 – – – –

Receivables (a) – 1,847 – – 1,847 1,847 1,847 – – – –

Amounts receivable 
for services – 20,002 – – 20,002 20,002 – – 5,000 5,000 10,002

82,406 – 353 82,053 82,406 62,404 – 5,000 5,000 10,002

Financial Liabilities

Payables – 7,545 – – 7,545 7,545 7,266 – – 279 –

WATC borrowings 3.90 84,206 – 84,206 – 84,206 723 31,050 2,170 15,914 34,349

91,751 – 84,206 7,545 91,751 7,989 31,050 2,170 16,193 34,349
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

42 Financial instruments (continued)

(c) Financial instrument disclosures (continued)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure (continued)
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42  Financial instruments (continued)

(c)  Financial instrument disclosures (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Department’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period 
on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the 
reporting period.

-100 basis points +100 basis points

Carrying 
Amount 

$000
Surplus 

$000
Equity 
$000

Surplus 
$000

Equity 
$000

2014

Financial Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 376 (3.8) (3.8) 3.8 3.8

Other financial assets 811 (8.1) (8.1) 8.1 8.1

Financial Liabilities

WATC borrowings 62,102 621.0 621.0 (621.0) (621.0)

Deferred revenue 811 8.1 8.1 (8.1) (8.1)

Total (Decrease)/Increase 617.2 617.2 (617.2) (617.2)

2013

Financial Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 353 (3.5) (3.5) 3.5 3.5

Financial Liabilities

WATC borrowings 84,206 842.1 842.1 (842.1) (842.1)

Total (Decrease)/Increase 838.6 838.6 (838.6) (838.6)

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts 
that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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43  Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the 
reporting period fall within the following bands are:
$  2014 2013

 20,001 – 30,000 – 1
 50,001 – 60,000 1 – 
 90,001 – 100,000 – 1
 100,001 – 110,000 – 2
 110,001 – 120,000 – 2
 120,001 – 130,000 – 3
 130,001 – 140,000 – 3
 140,001 – 150,000 – 3
 150,001 – 160,000 – 1
 160,001 – 170,000 2 1
 170,001 – 180,000 1 1
 190,001 – 200,000 3 – 
 200,001 – 210,000 1 – 
 210,001 – 220,000 5 – 
 220,001 – 230,000 1 – 
 240,001 – 250,000 – 1
 260,001 – 270,000 1 – 
 270,001 – 280,000 1 – 
 410,001 – 420,000 1 – 
 450,001 – 460,000 1 – 
  $000 $000

Base remuneration and superannuation  4,035 2,507
Annual leave and long service leave accruals  (42) (51)
Other benefits  72 62
Total remuneration of senior officers  4,065 2,518

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers for the reporting period.
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

44 Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial period is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators  147 124

  147 124

45 Affiliated bodies

The following are classified as non-government affiliated bodies and receive direct and/or indirect financial assistance.

Direct financial assistance is given in the form of a grant.  Indirect financial assistance is given in the form of administrative support including the use of a 
motor vehicle and running costs, office accommodation and minor administrative support (a).

Association of Volunteer Bush Fire Brigades WA Inc  44 –
Emergency Services Volunteer Association Inc  44 –
SES Volunteers Association of Western Australia Inc  44 –
Surf Life Saving Western Australia Inc  1,239 –
Volunteer Marine Rescue Western Australia Inc  40 –
Western Australian Volunteer Fire Brigades Association Inc  292 62

  1,703 62
(a) 2012-13 Grants paid to affiliated bodies was reported in FESA’s final report.

46 Supplementary financial information

(a) Write-Offs
During the financial year, $41,864.24 was written off the Department’s bad debts under the authority of:

The accountable authority  42 –

  42 –
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  2014 2013 
  $000 $000

46 Supplementary financial information (continued)

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
Losses of public money and public and other property through theft or default  5 24
Amounts recovered  (4) (17)

  1 7

(c) Gifts of public property
No gifts of public property was provided by the Department.

47 Indian Ocean Territories

Funds are provided by the Commonwealth Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development to provide services to the Indian Ocean Territories as 
specified in the Service Delivery Arrangements entered into between the State and Commonwealth.

Opening Balance (a)  194 9
Total Receipts  359 480
Total Expenditure  (553) (295)

Closing Balance  – 194
(a) DFES conducted a comprehensive analytical audit of costs associated with delivering emergency services in accordance with Services Delivery Arrangement. 

The audit revealed that a prior period adjustment was required to reflect the true and fair operating expenses incurred in previous financial years but not recouped. Incurred costs not recouped were mostly unallocated staff expenses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
48 Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service

The WA State government has established the Western Australia Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements (WANDRRA), providing a range of 
eligible assistance measures designed to help those within disaster affected communities.

For the year ended 30 June 2014, 8 natural disaster events were deemed eligible under WANDRRA arrangement with a total expenditure of $12.4m to 
assist the communities’ recovery.

The outlays made under WANDRRA are not consistent with the functions prescribed within the Fire and Emergency Services legislation and during the 
2013/14 budget process it was determined that the WANDRRA will be disclosed separately as an Administered note effective 1 July 2013. See note 2(y) 
‘Comparative figures’ and note 2(z) ‘Restatement of comparatives and correction of prior year errors’.

On 1 April 2014, the WANDRRA function was transferred to the Department of Premier and Cabinet.

There are no assets or liabilities related to the WANDRRA function for the period ended 30 June 2013 and for the year ended 30 June 2014.

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Grants and subsidies  12,423 105,660

Total Administered expenses  12,423 105,660

Income
Income from State government  12,423 37,703

Total Administered revenue  12,423 37,703

111Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2013/14



Certification of Key Performance Indicators
I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of 
Fire and Emergency Services’ performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2014.

W Gregson APM, MBA, BA
Accountable Authority

25 August 2014
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? It is a measure of how many structure fires are 
the result of an accidental ignition in the home. A lower than target performance is desired.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by dividing the number of reported 
accidental fires in homes as a proportion of the number of households in Western Australia.

Retrospective data entry will affect results in any given year. Past data has been updated to reflect 
completed reports as at 30 June 2014.

WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows a continued improvement in the number of 
accidental residential fires as a proportion of the number of households in Western Australia.

The number of households in Western Australia has increased over the last year by more than two 
percent and over the last five years by more than ten percent. The number of residential structure 
fires reported has decreased by more than one percent since last year and almost ten percent over 
the last five years.

There has been some movement in the number of incomplete data compared to last year, however 
this is not material. The improved performance result is attributed to both an improvement in data 
coding and an increased community awareness of the risk of fires through our prevention and 
mitigation programs such as Working Smoke Alarms and Fire Safety in Your Home.

Number of accidental residential fires per 100,000 households

  Target = Less than 70 accidental residential fires per 100,000 households
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62.73 accidental residential fires per 100,000 households
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? This indicator measures the effectiveness 
of community fire safety education programs and fire service response. A higher than target 
performance is desired.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by dividing the number of reported 
structure fires either confined to the object or room of origin by the total number of reported structure 
fires in which damage was recorded.

Retrospective data entry affects results for any given year. Past data has been updated to reflect 
completed reports as at 30 June 2014.

WHAT does this indicator show? The Department continues to perform well in this area.  
This can be partially attributed to increased community awareness through our ongoing prevention 
and mitigation programs such as Working Smoke Alarms and Fire Safety in Your Home. As this data 
set has some volatility, longer term trends provide a more accurate reflection of results.

The five year average as at the end of 2013/14 was 76.12 percent of reported structure fires are 
confined to the room or object of origin.

Proportion of structure fires confined to the room or object of origin
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74.59% of structure fires are confined to the room or object of origin
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On 1 January 2014 the amendments to the Dangerous Goods Safety (Storage and Handling of 
Non-explosives) Regulations 2007 came into effect. As a result, the term ‘special risk plans’ is not 
recognised and the Department of Mines and Petroleum required DFES Special Risk Plans to be 
renamed ‘FES Emergency Response Guide’. Regulation 76B now specifies the circumstances under 
which a Guide is prepared for a dangerous goods site.

WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? DFES has a legislated role for preparedness 
and response to hazardous materials emergencies. This indicator measures the rate at which FES 
Emergency Response Guides (formerly called special risk plans) are developed and reviewed for 
hazardous materials. A higher than target performance is desired.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by determining the number of special risk 
plans reviewed every two years as a percentage of the total number of special risk plans on our register.

WHAT does this indicator show? This year’s result of 91.67 percent of plans reviewed in 2013/14 is 
higher than our target of 90 percent.

The number of FES Emergency Response Guides has increased by more than 66 percent over 
the last five years. The increase is a result of increased risk awareness, compliance monitoring and 
industry expansion. A continued increase in the number of facilities requiring guides may impact our 
capacity to continue to complete reviews within specified timeframes and will require monitoring.

Percentage of FES Emergency Response Guides for hazardous material sites reviewed within specified timeframes

  Target = 90%
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91.67% of FES Emergency Response Guides for hazardous material sites are reviewed within specified timeframes
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? This indicator is intended to measure how 
efficiently we manage resources for delivering prevention and mitigation services. Our objective is 
to deliver services as efficiently as possible and still effectively support community stakeholders in 
reducing preventable emergencies, for example accidental residential fire (KPI1), confinement of fires 
(KPI2) and in mitigating the risks of natural hazards. More effective prevention and mitigation services 
should reduce the demand for emergency services as well as reducing the consequence of structure 
fires and emergencies resulting from severe weather events.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by dividing the total cost of services 
provided for prevention and mitigation by the total number of residents in Western Australia as 
calculated by the Australian Bureau of Statistics. It excludes payments provided through the Western 
Australian Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery arrangements, which the Department administered 
on behalf of State Government up until 31 March 2014 prior to its transfer to the Department of 
Premier and Cabinet.

In 2013/14, there was a change in the methodology for allocation of overhead expenses across our 
two services to more accurately reflect overall cost allocations.

WHAT does this indicator show? Expenditure on Prevention and Mitigation Services in 2013/14 
was only marginally more than the target figure. As a consequence of the 2013/14 mid year budget 
review and cabinet submissions approved during the year, the DFES expense limit was increased to 
address budget shortfalls including funding for the Air Crane, voluntary severances and impairment 
loss related to the write down of the FESA House site. The adjustments account for overspends 
against the original budget estimates for prevention and mitigation services.

Further information on the variations between end of year actual and budgeted expenditure can be 
accessed in the notes to the financial statements.

Cost of Prevention and Mitigation Services Per Capita (WA)
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  Per capita cost $

  Target cost per capita $

$18.65 per capita was spent on prevention and mitigation services in WA
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? This indicator measures the time taken for the 
initial emergency call to be transferred from Telstra’s central emergency call centre to DFES.  
The time is measured from the point of connection (ringing) to the point of disconnection (handover) 
from Telstra.

A change in the call transfer process in February 2011 extended the time to handover the call from 
Telstra to DFES. This change was implemented following a process review of response to the 
Roleystone fire and ensures that DFES can identify whether 000 calls during significant events are 
related to an existing or new emergency. The target for 2011/12 was revised to reflect the change in 
procedures.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by dividing the number of calls answered in 
less than 20 seconds by the total number of calls transferred to DFES.

WHAT does this indicator show? DFES’ target for 2013/14 was to answer 95 percent of 000 
calls within 20 seconds. Our result for the year is 95.88 percent. Following the drop in performance 
last financial year, DFES conducted an investigation into Comcen processes and the reliability and 
appropriateness of the data used to measure performance. A range of process and equipment 
improvements have been implemented to resolve the identified issues.

Percentage of 000 calls answered within the target timeframes

  Target = 95%
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95.88% of 000 calls are answered within 20 seconds
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? This indicator measures the percentage of 
career Fire and Rescue incident responses in the metropolitan area which meet the target timeframe 
of 12 minutes. Career firefighters currently respond to 70.97 percent of DFES incidents in Western 
Australia. Of those, 70.80 percent occur in the metropolitan area. Timely response is critical in 
minimizing the impact on the community. A higher than target performance result is desired.

Factors that impact total response times include adverse weather or traffic conditions, shorter or 
longer travel times if crews are not on station when notified or crews being mobilised to incidents 
outside of their area.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by determining the percentage of incidents 
where a career Fire and Rescue appliance arrives on scene at an incident within the metropolitan 
area within 12 minutes of the 000 call being received by DFES’ Communications Centre.

Retrospective data entry will affect response time results for all incident types. Data for past years 
has been updated to reflect completed reports as at 30 June 2014.

WHAT does this indicator show? The overall result for 2013/14 is the first time since before 
2005/06 that DFES has met the target for the 90th percentile. The result is impacted by data for non 
life critical incidents that have longer response times.

Response time information for specific incident types is detailed on the following pages.

Percentage of metropolitan responses by Career Fire and Rescue Services within target timeframes

  Target % of total metropolitan incidents 
responded to within 12 minutes

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

13/1412/1311/1210/1109/10

90.72% of all metropolitan incidents are responded to by career Fire and Rescue Services within 12 minutes
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  Target % of total metropolitan incidents responded to within 12 minutes

  Target % of total metropolitan incidents responded to within 12 minutes
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Structure
WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows that a career Fire and Rescue appliance 
was on-scene at more than 94 percent of all structure fire incidents in the metropolitan area within 
12 minutes. This response rate has generally been increasing over the last five years.

In 2013/14 the total number of structure fires attended by career firefighters in the metropolitan area 
(813) was less than last year (887), though the number of structure fires fluctuates greatly over the last 
five years.

Rescue
WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows that a career Fire and Rescue appliance was 
on-scene at more than 92 percent of all rescue incidents in the metropolitan area within 12 minutes.

While the total number of rescue incidents attended by career firefighters In 2013/14 in the 
metropolitan area (1,442) was less than last year (1,610), these incident types have been increasing 
over the last five years.

Structure fires and Rescues pose a high threat to life and as such are categorised as ‘life critical’ incidents, receiving the highest priority for response.
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  Target % of total metropolitan incidents responded to within 12 minutes

  Target % of total metropolitan incidents responded to within 12 minutes

HAZMAT
Hazardous materials incidents (HAZMAT) are those where there is an unexpected or unplanned 
accidental or deliberate release of a hazardous material. Response times to HAZMAT incidents are 
traditionally longer than for other incident types as additional time is usually taken at the mobilisation 
stage to determine what materials are involved, the appropriate response strategy and whether 
specialised resources, for example special protective clothing, are required to safely deal with 
the incident.

WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows that a career Fire and Rescue appliance 
was on-scene at more than 84 percent of all HAZMAT incidents in the metropolitan area within 
12 minutes.

The number of HAZMAT incidents in the metropolitan area has been generally increasing over the last 
five years which will also have an impact on response times. In 2013/14 the total number of HAZMAT 
incidents attended by career firefighters in the metropolitan area was 669.

Other (Property) Fires
Other (Property) incidents include fires in special structures such as piers, bridges or tunnels; outside 
storage facilities and mobile property, for example buses, aircraft and rail transport.

WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows that a career Fire and Rescue appliance was 
on-scene at more than 87 percent of all Other (Property) incidents in the metropolitan area within  
12 minutes. This is better than last year.

The number of Other (Property) incidents in the metropolitan area has been increasing over the last 
five years. In 2013/14 the total number of Other (Property) incidents attended by career firefighters in 
the metropolitan area was 615 which is four percent more than last year and more than 74 percent 
more than two years ago.
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Grass, Scrub, Rubbish and Bush fires
This incident category includes landscape or bushfires and outside rubbish fires, including those in 
landfill or construction sites.

Extra time is often required with landscape or bushfires for crews to determine the severity or 
potential impact of the incident and to reach the exact location of the fire, especially if they are 
required to move off road. This can result in delays in notification that the crew has arrived on scene, 
which will overstate travel times.

WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows that a career Fire and Rescue appliance 
was on-scene at more than 88 percent of all Grass, Scrub, Rubbish and Bush fire incidents in the 
metropolitan area within 12 minutes.

In contrast to the incident types above, the number of Grass, Scrub, Rubbish and Bush fire incidents 
has been decreasing over the last five years. In 2013/14 the total number of Grass, Scrub, Rubbish 
and Bush fire incidents attended by career firefighters in the metropolitan area was 2,513, 16 percent 
less than last year and 33 percent less than five years ago. This decrease in incident numbers can be 
attributed, in part, to improvements in data quality.

  Target % of total metropolitan incidents responded to within 12 minutes
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? This indicator measures the percentage of 
volunteer Fire & Rescue turnouts which meet target timeframes. It assists in determining where there 
are challenges in mustering a full volunteer crew for incident response. For volunteer services the 
turnout time is the most useful indicator for measuring service delivery. Total response time is not 
used as a key indicator of performance as response times can be affected by extended distances to 
incident sites in regional areas.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by determining the percentage of incidents 
where the volunteer crew turned out within 14 minutes of receiving notification from DFES ComCen. 
DFES has limited, or no control over response to incidents where they provide a support role to other 
agencies (e.g. fire response in local government areas and rescue incidents). As a consequence, this 
indicator excludes incidents attended by other volunteer services.

WHAT does this indicator show? Volunteer Fire and Rescue crews are consistently turning out to 
incidents within their target timeframe.

Percentage of Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service turnouts within target timeframes

  Target = 90%
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93.34% of volunteer Fire & Rescue Service turnouts are within target timeframes
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? DFES has a legislated role for preparedness and 
response to bushfire. This indicator measures DFES’ preparedness to manage the two highest levels 
of bushfire incident severity.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by determining the number of operational 
personnel trained in level 2 and level 3 incident management as a percentage of the number deemed 
required.

WHAT does this indicator show? The number of personnel required to be trained in Level 2 and 
3 Incident Management are 48 and 12 respectively. DFES has 65 personnel deemed competent in 
Level 2 Incident Management and 17 competent in Level 3 being 135 percent and 143 percent of our 
targets respectively.

Percentage of Required Operational Personnel Trained in Level 2 and Level 3 Incident Management (Bushfire)

  Level 2 Incident Managers   Target = 90%

  Level 3 Incident Managers   Target = 90%

135% and 142% respectively of required operational personnel trained in level 2 and level 3 Incident Management (Bushfire)
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WHY is this a key indicator of our 
performance? This indicator is intended to 
measure how efficiently we manage resources 
in preparing for and responding to emergencies. 
Our objective is to manage resources as 
efficiently as possible whilst still providing an 
effective response service.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator 
is derived by dividing the total cost of services 
provided for response and recovery services 
by the total number of residents in Western 
Australia as calculated by the Australian Bureau 
of Statistics.

The total cost of emergency services includes 
all fixed and variable expenditure involved in 
maintaining Emergency Services.

For the purposes of this indicator, costs 
related to the administration of the Western 
Australian Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery 
(WANDRRA) program are excluded. The 
Department managed the WANDRRA program 
on behalf of State Government up to 31 March 
2014 prior to its transfer to the Department of 
the Premier and Cabinet.

In 2013/14, there was a change in the 
methodology for allocation of overhead 
expenses across our two services to more 
accurately reflect overall cost allocations.

WHAT does this indicator show? Expenditure 
on Emergency Services was marginally higher 
than planned in 2013/14. As a consequence of 
the 2013/14 mid year budget review and cabinet 
submissions approved during the year the DFES 
expense limit was increased to address budget 
shortfalls including funding for the Air Crane, 
voluntary severances and impairment loss 
related to the write down of the FESA House 
site. The adjustments account for overspends 
against the original budget estimates for 
emergency services.

Further information on the variations between 
end of year actual and budgeted expenditure 
can be accessed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

Cost of Emergency Services Per Capita (WA)
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$125.52 per capita was spent on emergency services in WA
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Independent Audit Opinion

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
DEPARTMENT OF FIRE AND EMERGENCY SERVICES

Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, and Summary 
of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information, including Administered transactions and balances.

Commissioner’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Commissioner is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Commissioner determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on my audit. The audit was 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Department’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Commissioner, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Department 
of Fire and Emergency Services at 30 June 2014 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

7th Floor Albert Facey House  
469 Wellington Street Perth  
MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  
TEL: 08 6557 7500 FAX: 08 6557 7600
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Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Fire and Emergency Services during the year ended 30 June 2014.

Controls exercised by the Department of Fire and Emergency Services are those policies and procedures established by the Commissioner to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions.

Commissioner’s Responsibility for Controls
The Commissioner is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, 
the acquisition and disposal of public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and 
the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the controls exercised by the Department of Fire and 
Emergency Services based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls to ensure that the Department complies with the 
legislative provisions. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation of relevant 
controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Department of Fire and Emergency Services are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2014.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services for the year ended 30 June 2014.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide information on outcome achievement 
and service provision.

Commissioner’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Commissioner is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Commissioner determines necessary to ensure that the key performance indicators 
fairly represent indicated performance.
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Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators based on my audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk assessments the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the Commissioner’s preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and appropriateness of the key performance 
indicators for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess 
the Department’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2014.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services for the year 
ended 30 June 2014 included on the Department’s website. The Department’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Department’s website. 
This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Department’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key 
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial 
statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising 
from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the 
information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Perth, Western Australia
29 August 2014
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Ministerial Directives [TI 903(12)]
On 8 May 2014 the Minister provided written 
advice to the Fire and Emergency Services 
Commissioner pursuant to Section 10(1)(b) of 
the Bush Fires Act 1954. The Commissioner has 
been entrusted to identify, designate and record 
areas as being bushfire prone.

Ministerial Communication
In accordance with Section 74 of the 
Public Sector Management Act 1994, the 
Department has a communications agreement 
with the Minister for Emergency Services that 
outlines communication procedures between 
the Minister’s office and DFES employees. This 
agreement ensures that the Minister receives 
accurate and timely information and advice. 
In 2013/14, 95 percent of correspondence was 
attended to within the specified timeframes.

2013/14 2012/13

Ministerial Items 752 866

Parliamentary 
Questions

65 60

Functions attended 
by the Minister

35 14

Pricing policies of services provided
User charges and fees are reviewed annually. 
Increases in user charges and fees are generally 
limited to increases in the consumer price index 
as advised by the Department of Treasury.

The Emergency Services Levy (ESL) was 
introduced in 2003/04 and provides the majority 
of funding to enable effective service delivery 
for bushfires and structure fires, cyclones, 
earthquakes, floods, incidents involving 
hazardous materials, severe storms, tsunamis, 
road crash rescues and a range of search and 
rescue call outs.

The ESL is a Western Australian Government 
charge that is primarily invoiced and collected 
by local governments, with the funds being 
remitted to DFES. ESL rates and charging 
parameters are determined annually by the 
Minister for Emergency Services to raise an 
approved amount each year. The 2014/15 
budget, rates and charging parameters were 
published in the Government Gazette on 
13 June 2014.

Western Australia Natural 
Disaster Relief and Recovery 
Arrangements
Western Australia Natural Disaster Relief and 
Recovery Arrangements (WANDRRA) measures 
are closely based on the Commonwealth 
Government guidelines (referred to as the 
Determination) which set out the conditions 
of the Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery 
Arrangements (NDRRA) by which each jurisdiction 
may make a claim for partial reimbursement 
of eligible costs as a direct result of a natural 
disaster event. This ensures that Western Australia 
maximises any financial reimbursement potential 
from the Commonwealth.

DFES was responsible for the administration of 
WANDRRA prior to the transfer of the function 
to the Department of the Premier and Cabinet 
on 31 March 2014. During the period 1 July to 
31 March 2014, eight natural disaster events 
were deemed eligible under WANDRRA.

Three of these events occurred in the financial 
year ended 30 June 2013, however were only 
activated when reimbursement details were 
available this financial year.

Ministerial Directives and 
Communication

Other Financial Disclosures
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These were:
• Bushfires in the Lower South West Region 

(12 February 2013).
• Severe Thunderstorms in the Great Southern 

Region (9 June 2013).
• Tropical low and associated flooding in the 

Pilbara Region (24 June 2013).

The remaining five events were:
• Storm and flooding at Augusta – Margaret 

River (15 July 2013).
• Storm in the South West Land Division 

(22 – 24 September 2013)
• Severe Tropical Cyclone Christine – 

Pilbara Region (30 December 2013).
• Bushfires in Parkerville (12 January 2014).
• Tropical low and associated flooding affecting 

the Kimberley, Pilbara, Gascoyne, North 
Interior, South Interior, Goldfields and Eucla 
districts (16 – 24 January 2014).

Details of these activations and WANDRRA 
are available at www.dfes.wa.gov.au. DFES 
expenditure for the period 1 July 2013 to  
31 March 2014 was allocated to the event types 
listed below:

Hazard Total

Bushfire $2,574,349

Cyclone including 
associated flooding

$3,993,578

Flood $2,365,467

Storm $3,489,216

Total $12,422,610

Indemnity Insurance
Following DFES’ transition from a statutory 
authority to a Department effective 1 November 
2012, the SEMC Secretariat was established as 
sub department of DFES on 1 July 2013. While 
DFES has coverage from RiskCover, DFES has 
taken separate directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance for seven years ending 30 June 2020 
to align with the Statute of Limitations. The 
Indemnity Insurance covers both DFES and the 
SEMC Secretariat. 

The amount of the insurance premium paid 
for seven years was $58,865. The proportion 
relating to this reporting period is $8,409.
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Capital Works
The information below relates to DFES land, 
building and fleet and equipment capital projects.

Completed Capital 
Building Projects 

Completion 
(Month of 2013/14)

FRS Kiara Fire Station December 2013

VFRS Kambalda 
Fire Station

August 2013

The construction of both the Kiara career 
FRS Fire Station and the VFRS Fire Station at 
Kambalda experienced delays as a result of the 
builders going into receivership. New builders 
were commissioned for both projects.

The Kiara career FRS Fire Station replaces 
the Bassendean career FRS Fire Station and 
the Kambalda VFRS Fire Station replaces the 
existing station.

Capital Projects Incomplete Estimated for Completion (Financial Year)

FRS Butler Fire Station 2014/15

FRS Geraldton Fire Station 2014/15

VFRS Geraldton Fire Station 2014/15

FRS Wangara Fire Station Modifications 2014/15

FRS/VFRS Bunbury Collocated Fire Station 2015/16

Wangara Fire Station Modifications
Significant modifications were initially planned 
to be undertaken at Wangara career FRS 
Station and were anticipated to be completed 
in 2013/14. The scope of these have been 
reassessed and reduced.

Bunbury Collocated Fire Station
The new Bunbury collocated career and 
volunteer FRS Fire Station commenced in 
2012/13. Land acquisition has been completed 
and the project scope approved. The architect 
has been commissioned and the project is in 
detailed planning phase.

Butler Fire Station
The new Butler career FRS Fire Station project 
commenced in 2012/13. Land acquisition 
has been finalised and the project is in the 
construction phase.

Geraldton Fire Station
The new Geraldton career FRS Fire Station 
commenced in 2012/13. The building concept 
design was agreed between the United 
Firefighters Union and DFES in June 2013. Land 
excision is continuing and the project is now in 
the detailed design phase.

Geraldton VFRS Fire Station
The new Geraldton volunteer FRS Fire 
Station commenced in 2012/13. While there 
have been some delays through planning 
approval procedures the project is now 
under construction.
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The Fleet Replacement Program
In 2013/14, the DFES Fleet Replacement 
Program comprised 33 Emergency Appliances 
and Vehicles. These were:
• 22 light tankers.
• One replacement aerial appliance (a 

combined ladder platform) for the Perth 
career Fire and Rescue Station.

• Three Hazmat Structure Rescue appliances.
• Two other tankers.
• One personnel carrier.
• Four technology support vans.

Under the Local Government Grants Scheme, 
27 emergency vehicles were allocated, along 
with one flood boat and three trailers to State 
Emergency Service Units. Forty nine tankers 
were allocated to Local Government Bush Fire 
Service Brigades.

Challenges
Fleet Reform Program
Significant progress has been made under 
the Department’s Fleet Reform Program. 
This focuses on compliance with standards, 
quality assurance, engineering certification, 
procurement practice as well as improving 
overall workforce policies and practices.

In addition, a business case is being developed 
for an enterprise wide asset management 
information system to progress improvements to 
asset management.

Overweight Risks
An ongoing challenge for the Department 
has been managing the competing priorities 
for appliances to meet emergency response 
capability requirements while remaining within 
manufacturers and regulatory specifications. 
A significant program of work has been 
undertaken to quantify the extent of the risk and 
develop strategies for remediation.

Future Fleet
The Future Fleet Project is intended to bring the 
West Australian fire appliance fleet to a ‘best of 
class’ standard.

The project will provide enhanced safety 
measures for crews caught in Burnover 
situations, by implementing Crew Protection 
Systems in both new and existing high risk 
bushfire appliances.

The enhancements include:
• Resolution of vehicle weight and centre of 

gravity issues.
• The replacement of the existing light 

tanker fleet.

• The reduction of classes and types of 
appliances through the rationalisation 
of capability.

This project will implement four parallel streams 
of activity to address firefighter safety:
• Stream 1 – Interim Fleet (July 2015).
• Stream 2 – Crew Protection (October 2017).
• Stream 3 – Automatic Vehicle Location (AVL) 

(September 2017).
• Stream 4 – Future Fleet (July 2017).

At the conclusion of the project the 
Department’s fleet and asset procurement 
systems will deliver ‘best of class’ fire appliances 
and support vehicles to DFES and Local 
Government Grant Scheme recipients based on 
the Department’s capability framework.

Cabinet Funding for Future West of Perth 
and Albany Stations.
Funding for new Career Fire and Rescue Service 
Stations at both Perth West and Albany was 
approved in the 2014/15 State Budget.

A three year program including land acquisition 
and construction will be undertaken from 
2014/15 to 2016/17.
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Staff Profile

2013/14 2012/13 
Full time permanent 1,359 1,393

Full time contract 37 47

Full time trainees 30 4

Full time apprentice 1 2

Part time permanent 33 31

Part time contract 5 6

Part time trainee 1 0

On secondment (at DFES)2 11 12

On secondment  
(to other agencies)

2 7

Casual 3 3
Total (headcount) 1,471 1,493

* Note: The total will not correlate with figures in Appendix 2 as this table 
relates to staff head count, not Full Time Equivalent staff numbers.

Workplace Management 
DFES employees are covered by a number of 
awards and agreements covering employment 
terms and conditions. During 2013/14 a new 
agreement for technical staff employed at the 
Fleet and Equipment Services workshop facility 
in O’Connor was ratified.

The United Firefighters Union of Australia (UFU) 
Western Australian Branch and the Department 
negotiated to replace the existing Western 
Australian Fire Service Enterprise Bargaining 
Agreement 2011 which expired on 9 June 2014.  

This Agreement covers staff employed under 
Section 20 of the Fire and Emergency Services 
Authority of Western Australia Act 1998 for 
the purposes of the Fire Brigades Act 1942. 
Agreement in principle was reached on  
29 May 2014.

Public service staff employed by the Department 
are covered by the Public Service and 
Government Officers General Agreement 
2011. This Agreement expired on 1 April 2014 
and Government, through the Department of 
Commerce, is currently negotiating a replacement 
Agreement to cover public service employees.

Wellness
DFES continued to progress the 
recommendations of the Community 
Development and Justice Standing Committee 
report on the exposure of emergency service 
workers to trauma including:
• Establishing a cadre of seven Accredited 

Mental Health First Aid Trainers.
• Review and redesign of the Peer Support 

Program.
• Increasing chaplaincy services to two full 

time chaplains and an extended network of 
regional affiliate chaplains.

• Enhancements to the recording of incident 
exposures of workers responding to 
critical incidents.

• Researching issues associated with recruiting 
younger firefighters and psychological 
resilience.

DFES has implemented an Executive Health 
Program comprised of medical and fitness 
assessments for the senior management group. 
The Program aims to promote optimum health, 
welfare and productivity of the group.

To better understand the physiological 
standards of our workforce, DFES began 
development of an evaluation process to 
assess work capacity. This included research 
of current practice in Australia and overseas, 
comprehensive collection of job task analysis 
data and independent validation of tests. 
Extensive workplace trials of the assessment 
are planned for 2014/15.

Recruitment
Firefighting continues to be a highly regarded 
career and as at 30 June 2014, 2,814 people 
were registered as being interested in becoming 
a firefighter. One firefighter school of 29 
trainees graduated in 2013/14. The continuous 
improvement process for firefighter recruitment 
resulted in further enhancements to candidate 
testing including the introduction of a driver 
validation component and manual dexterity test.

Equity and Diversity
During 2013/14 the Department sought and 
received approval from the Public Sector 
Commission to implement a Strategic Workforce 
and Diversity Plan 2013 – 2016. Implementation 
of the plan has commenced.

Employment and Industrial Relations

2 Employees on secondment (at DFES) have been excluded from total 
headcount.
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Closing the Gap
The Department’s plan places a significant focus 
on Aboriginal employment both now and in 
the future. During 2013/14 the Commissioner’s 
Aboriginal Scholarship was launched. DFES also 
offered and filled seven Aboriginal Traineeships 
(in business) and provided work experience 
opportunities for unemployed Aboriginal people.

The DFES Aboriginal Firefighter Pre-Employment 
Pilot Program has been developed and will 
be implemented throughout 2014/15. This 
program provides a pathway for 12 Aboriginal 
people who wish to become a career Firefighter. 
In preparation for the Firefighter recruitment 
process they have the opportunity to work at 
DFES over a 12 month period.

These initiatives form part of the program that has 
doubled our Aboriginal employment rate since 
last year from 0.75 percent to 1.5 percent  
at 30 June 2014.

Staff Development
The Professional Pathways project continues 
to define a training education pathway for 
all roles within DFES. During 2013/14 staff 
and volunteers received technical, incident 
management and leadership training. This 
training and education was delivered internally 
by DFES and external providers:
• A total of 1,513 courses were delivered across 

Western Australia, involving 2,398 DFES staff, 
8,571 volunteers and 1,239 external personnel.

• Of the 1,513 courses delivered, 169 were 
conducted at the WA FES Academy and 
involved 620 DFES staff, 496 volunteers and 
438 external personnel.

Professional Pathways
E-Learning / On-line Content
Work has commenced on converting the 
Firefighter Development Program to an 
e-learning format.

Significant achievements in the e-learning arena 
include activities and assessments being made 
available to firefighters on-line. Acceptance 
of the new on-line format has been high and 
all graduates from the last Trainee Firefighter 
School completed the first year modules in 
an e-learning environment. On graduation, 
firefighters will now complete the Firefighter 
Development Program through a series of face-
to-face and on-line activities.

Volunteer Pathways
For the first time a skills recognition process for 
accreditation in Incident Controller Level 1 (ICL1) 
training was applied to volunteers State-wide 
resulting in approximately 298 volunteers being 
identified and endorsed as ICL1.

In support of this, training to meet the national 
competency unit, PUAOPE012A Control a Level 
1 Incident was developed. This course has been 
delivered to volunteer and career staff across 
the State for all hazards.

The Pathways Project aims to provide a clear 
development pathway for all DFES staff and 
volunteers. The Volunteer Pathways have been 
developed to provide a structured, stepped, 
yet flexible approach to training that will 
ensure essential skills and knowledge training 
is available to those that require it. Designed 
around the Public Safety Training Package 
competencies, the pathways allow for the 
attainment of National Competencies.

The Volunteer Firefighter and Marine Rescue 
Pathways have been endorsed. The SES Pathway 
is in final draft and all Pathways are scheduled for 
trial release by end of October 2014.

Career Pathways
To support DFES’ focus on improved command 
and control arrangements, the need to develop 
a Level 2 Incident Controller and Planning 
Officer training resource during 2014 became 
an imperative.

It was identified that these two Incident 
Management functional requirements were 
common across fire agencies in Western 
Australia. The two training resources have been 
developed collaboratively between DFES, DPaW 
and Local Government and support a common 
operating environment among the agencies.

The courses were implemented in February 
2014 with a multiagency participant group.  
Both courses were also delivered as part of the 
DFES District Officer Program in March 2014.
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At the date of reporting, other than normal 
contracts of employment of service, no senior 
officers, or firms of which senior officers are 
members, or entities in which senior officers 
have substantial interests, had any interests in 
existing or proposed contracts with DFES.

Audit and Risk Management 
Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee 
(ARMC) held four meetings during the 2013/14 
year on 29 August 2013, 27 November 2013,  
27 February 2014 and 29 May 2014.

Attendance was as follows:

Standing Members Meetings 
Attended

Executive Director Governance 
and Strategy (Chair)

3

Executive Director Corporate 
Services

3

Deputy Commissioner 
Operations

1

Deputy Commissioner Capability 3

Independent member, General 
Manager RiskCover

4

Persons acting in the relevant role attended 
as proxies on the occasions when substantive 
standing members were not available.

Observers/Technical Advisors

Director, Business Services (Chief Finance 
Officer)

Peter Sparkes, Office of the Auditor General

Peter Rupp, External Auditor – Deloittes

Bronwyn Rose, Internal Audit – Sutherland 
Rose

Lisa Bayakly, Internal Audit – KPMG

The ARMC is a component of DFES’ corporate 
governance framework and is an advisory 
body designed to give assurance to the FES 
Commissioner, Government and the community 
that management is maintaining adequate and 
satisfactory control over the operations of DFES.

A Performance Review of the ARMC was 
undertaken in March 2014 which affirmed that 
the Committee had met the requirements of 
its Charter to a high standard and that the 
processes and procedures will continue to 
mature over time.

Governance Disclosures
Some of the benefits of the ARMC that were 
highlighted by this review include:
• It has provided an effective high level 

entity control that is conducive to a sound 
governance framework.

• It has provided DFES with a means to raise 
issues that are concerning to business areas 
and for the business areas to be assured that 
these issues will be heard and addressed 
accordingly.

• It provides senior coordinated focus and 
broader view on risk management rather than 
audit/compliance.

DFES’ internal audits are conducted by an 
outsourced provider in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Institute of Internal Auditors International 
Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing.

Sutherland Rose provided the internal 
audit function for the period 1 July to 31 
December 2013. A new internal audit contract 
was awarded to a team from KPMG who 
commenced on 13 January 2014. Internal audits 
provide independent, objective assurance and 
consulting that is designed to add value and 
improve DFES’ operations.
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Internal Audit reports that were submitted to 
ARMC in 2013/14:
• OBRM – to determine how effective OBRM 

has been in delivering the functions and goals 
established in its Charter.

• Albany, Bunbury and Joondalup Regional 
Offices – to ensure that Regional Offices 
employ financial, administrative and 
operational processes in accordance with 
DFES’ policy and procedures.

• The Local Government Authorities (LGA) 
Acquittal of Local Government Grant Scheme 
(LGGS) – to assess compliance with the Local 
Government Manual for Capital and Operating 
Grants 2012-13 including expenditure and 
acquittal documentation supplied to DFES in 
respect of LGGS funding.

• Payroll, Non-Rostered Shift Workers’ 
Arrangements and Annualised Arrangements 
June 2013.

• Volunteer Marine Rescue WA Procurement 
& Contract Management October 2013 – 
to investigate the procurement, contract 
management and project management 
processes relating to RV SARDAM and to 
determine whether these were appropriate.

• Volunteer Employer Recognition Programme 
(VERP) – Quality Management System – to 
assess compliance with ISO9001:20078, the 
DFES’ VERP Quality Manual and whether the 
VERP quality management system is being 
effectively implemented and maintained.
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Advertising
(Electoral Act 1907)
In accordance with Section 175ZE of the 
Electoral Act 1907, DFES incurred the following 
expenditure in advertising, market research, 
polling, direct mail and media advertising.

Total expenditure for 2013/14 was $81,272.

Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

Advertising agencies $3,683 Adcorp Australia Limited $3,683

Market research 
organisations

Nil

Polling organisations Nil

Direct mail organisations Nil

Media advertising 
organisations

$77,589 Albany CCI Community Service Group $194

Attractions $90

Attractions Perth $99

Auto Trader Australia Pty Ltd $3,164

Britel Enterprises Pty Ltd $2,014

Community Newspaper Group $485

Derby Visitor Centre $2,800

Marsh Agencies $1,273

Optimum Media Decisions (WA) Ltd $3,882

Radiowest Broadcasters $8,523

Rural Press Regional Media (WA) Pty Ltd $260

Sensis Pty Ltd $49,300

State Emergency Services WA $126

Walpole Community Resource Centre $92

West Australian Newspapers Limited $1,287

West Coast Radio $4,000

Other Legal Requirements
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes
(Disability Services Act 1933, S29)
The DFES Disability Access Improvement Plan (DAIP) applies to both DFES and the SEMC Secretariat. During 2013/2014, the following achievements 
were made:
• Published the annual report document in a format compatible with Adobe Read Out Loud making the document conducive to be used by individuals 

with specific visual impairments.
• Conducted a significant consultation for the review of the Emergency Services Acts Concept Paper using a fully accessible on-line consultation platform 

designed to comply with major DAIP specifications globally including UK BS8878 guidelines, the WA Government Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 
Level AA and US section 508 functional and technical standards.

• Piloted and began roll out of the At-Risk Communities Program that works with service providers to build the bushfire preparedness of people who are 
ageing or have a disability. The program builds service provider knowledge of the bushfire hazard, preparedness options for people with a disability and 
how to discuss preparedness with their clients. It also develops service provider understanding of their own preparedness when travelling and working 
in bushfire prone areas.

• Established the DAIP Working Group to review the expired 2008-2013 DAIP and prepare the 2014-2019 DAIP.

137Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2013/14

http://www.semc.wa.gov.au/publicationsandresources/Pages/AnnualReports.aspx


Compliance With Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes
(Public Sector Management Act 1994, S31(1))

In the administration of DFES during 2013/14, I have complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian 
Public Sector Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct.

I have established procedures designed to ensure such compliance and conducted appropriate internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement 
made above is correct.

W Gregson APM, BA, MBA
Accountable Authority

25 August 2014

Breaches of Standards Review
The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes for the reporting period are:
Number lodged: Four
Number of breaches found: Nil
Number of multiple breaches: Nil
Number still under review: Nil
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Record Keeping Plans
(State Records Act 2000 and State Records 
Commission Standard 2, Principle 6).

Record Keeping System
Department of Fire and Emergency Services 
(DFES) Record Keeping Plan was approved by 
the State Records Office in August 2013. The 
plan also applies to the governance of records 
held by the SEMC Secretariat. A Disaster 
Management Strategy for DFES’ records was 
also provided.

Over the past 12 months a number of 
initiatives have been identified to underpin 
the Department’s overall commitment to 
good records management. The focus of this 
planning will be to better align the management 
of information with the Department’s strategic 
outcomes and business processes.

Among the initiatives identified are:
• Development of a Strategic Plan.
• Development of Information Principles.
• Disaster Recovery Plan and Toolkit 

for records.
• Information Assets Register.

The existing keyword thesaurus within the 
TRIM system is being replaced with a Business 
Classification Scheme. The new terms and 
format will better reflect the changing business 
processes within the agency, making it easier to 
save and search for information.

The existing SharePoint information resources 
intranet page is being redesigned to provide a 
more comprehensive repository of information to 
assist staff in good recordkeeping practices.

An upgrade of the TRIM system to the latest 
version in the near future, will allow integration 
with SharePoint, the agency’s enterprise 
content management system through the use of 
collaborative workspaces.

Training Program
The agency’s TRIM training manual is under 
constant review and our training program 
includes beginner and refresher training. Regular 
audits of the system ensure compliance, 
quality of indexing and user understanding of 
recordkeeping practices.

The on-line Records Awareness Training 
and support in small groups or one-on-one 
has been included as part of the induction 
program for all new employees. This on-line 
training covers all aspects of best practice 
recordkeeping and is completed as part of the 
agency procedure to gain TRIM access.

An additional 330 TRIM licences have been 
purchased, providing a total 720, to assist in 
improving corporate governance and retaining 
and managing DFES’ information flow in line 
with our overall commitment to good records 
management.

Disposal Program
The Disposal program continued during 
2013/14. To assist with this program a survey 
was undertaken to determine the quantity and 
information type being retained in regional 
offices including:
• Number of inactive records.
• Where the records are being stored.
• The archival value of the records.
• The risk associated with the current 

storage provision.
• The number of records not captured in TRIM.

Of the 271 boxes sent to offsite storage this 
year, an estimated 129 boxes (47.6 percent) 
contained information of on-going historical 
significance including committee deliberations, 
contracts and incident reviews. This is a 
substantial increase from previous years where 
approximately 10 percent of archived records 
would be deemed to be of on-going historical 
significance.
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Freedom of Information
(Freedom of Information Act 1992 (FOI Act) – 
Section 111)

The Freedom of Information Statistical Return for 
DFES (including the SEMC Secretariat) for the 
period 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014 has been 
submitted to the Information Commissioner as 
prescribed in Section 111 of the FOI Act. 

As in 2012/13, most applications sought access 
to non-personal information from Operational 
Services (including Fire Incident Reports and 
Fire Investigation Reports) in relation to domestic 
and commercial structural fires.

A total of 99 valid applications were received; 
a decrease of 23 applications (18.8 percent) 
from 2012/13. In addition, four applications were 
carried over from the previous reporting period.

Ninety five applications were dealt with during 
this reporting period; with 88 granted edited 
access, five withdrawn (including documents not 
found), one was deferred and access for one 
application was denied.

Freedom of Information Applications 2013/14

Applications carried over from previous reporting period 4

New valid applications received within this reporting period 98

Applications transferred from another Government Agency 1

Total applications for reporting period 103

Applications withdrawn or invalid 5

Applications transferred in full to another Government Agency 0

Edited access granted 88

Full access granted 0

Access denied 1

Access deferred 1

Applications carried over to next reporting period 8

Freedom of Information Fees and Charges 2013/14

Application fees collected $2,940.00

Actual charges collected $427.30

Charges waived (when processing costs are less than $20.00) $1,019.90
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Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management
resources are directed appropriately to manage 
safety risk and keep our people safe, supporting 
our policy statement ‘DFES is committed to 
achieve the highest standards in occupational 
safety and health’. It also addresses key 
recommendations from the audit conducted 
against the Worksafe plan in late 2009.

DFES’ Safety Management System is aligned 
to Australian Standard 4801 Occupational 
Health and Safety Management Systems 
and will be introduced mid-September 2014. 
The components of this system address all 
of the recommendations stemming from the 
2009 audit report.

During 2013/14 DFES increased safety 
consultation with staff through a range of 
mechanisms including the development of the 
Safety Matters Discussion Board. The intranet 
based discussion board allows staff to comment 
on processes or equipment which may have 
an impact on safety. The Health and Safety 
Services Team also undertook a program 
of station visits across the metropolitan and 
country areas to consult and communicate on 
safety and ensure key processes for reporting of 
hazards and injuries were understood. Based on 
feedback received from these visits, the on-line 
hazard reporting system and processes were 
significantly improved making it easier for staff to 
report and resolve hazards and injuries.

Other key achievements for 2013/14 in support 
of the safety system are as follows:
• Development of a hazard resolution 

procedure to ensure that everyone is aware of 
their role in resolving hazards and continuing 
to make the workplace safe.

• The development of five key criteria within the 
safety roles and responsibilities policy which 
underpin the way safety is managed within 
DFES. They are:
• Contribute to a positive safety culture.
• Work collaboratively to create a safer 

workplace.
• Communicate and consult about safety 

effectively.
• Manage safety hazards and risks.
• Adopt a continuous improvement approach 

to the management of safety.

• Development of a Safety Training Policy 
to ensure that Professional Development, 
Human Resources and Health and Safety 
Services work together to ensure safety 
training for each role within DFES is achieved.

• Held the inaugural meeting of the Health and 
Safety Governance Committee reporting to 
the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) and 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee 
monitoring safety performance.

(Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-
11: Code of Practice: Occupational Safety and 
Health in the Western Australian Public Sector)

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury 
Management and Workers Compensation 
management services are provided by DFES to 
the SEMC Secretariat.

Significant work has been undertaken over the 
last twelve months in support of our value “strive 
to keep ourselves and others safe”. DFES’ 
continuing commitment to the health and safety 
of staff, volunteers, contractors and visitors is 
evident through the increased focus placed on 
safety as a result of Health and Safety Services 
reporting directly to the Commissioner. The 
executive team have endorsed key leadership 
behaviours to demonstrate their support of 
safety including attending committee meetings, 
writing safety articles and promoting safety 
during site visits.

The development of documentation and 
processes in support of our safety management 
framework has continued throughout 2013/14 
with a key focus on safety planning, safety 
training, consultation and communication and 
the measurement and review of our safety 
performance. Safety now forms a key part of 
DFES’ planning cycle allowing reflection on 
achievements and areas for improvement. 
Planning for safety into the future will ensure 
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• Implemented tool box meetings to increase 
awareness of health and safety for personal in 
non-operational roles.

• Development of a new Safety Incident 
Investigation Policy with a key focus 
on governance.

• Recording all investigation actions, including 
recommendations, in the Integrated Risk 
Management System for monitoring 
and reporting to the Safety Governance 
Committee and CLT.

• Continued consultation on the management 
of the fatigue and the alcohol and drugs 
policies ready for finalisation.

• Refinement of monthly reporting to CLT to 
highlight key safety risks and how they are 
being addressed as well as the status of all 
formal incident investigations and resulting 
recommendations.

Structure, Role and Function of Safety and 
Health Service Provision
DFES’ Health and Safety Services Directorate 
provides strategic support and advice on all 
matters relating to the health and safety of DFES 
personnel and direction on safety objectives and 
priorities. Health and Safety Services have been 
reporting directly to the Commissioner since 
July 2012. Personnel with appropriate specialist 
safety skills, competencies and experience have 
been recruited to the team.  

All positions are filled on a permanent basis 
excluding the operational position which is 
offered on an 18 month secondment basis. 
DFES also engaged a health and safety 
specialist to assist in the development and 
integration of the DFES’ Safety Management 
System within core business activities.

The DFES Health and Safety Services Team is 
supported by a robust committee and safety 
health representative structure including the 
Corporate Committee and the Fire and Rescue 
Service Committee which report to the Health 
and Safety Governance Committee.

Safety Governance Framework and 
Risk Management
DFES’ safety and health governance forms 
part of the overall objectives of the broader 
enterprise risk management and governance 
framework. This is facilitated by a Health and 
Safety Governance Committee, Health and 
Safety Director attendance at the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee, monthly reporting to 
executive management and monthly reporting to 
the Commissioner.

Our commitment to effectively address and 
control safety related risks continues with 
the refinement of the safety risk register and 
accompanying risk assessment processes 
allowing recommendations to be made to 
the CLT through risk management plans for 
distribution of resources.  

The safety incident investigation policy and 
recording of investigation and recommendations 
in our business planning system ensures 
incidents are investigated in a timely manner and 
risks managed appropriately.

Consultation, Communication and 
Awareness
DFES has developed a safety communication 
and consultation policy as part of the safety 
management system framework to ensure there 
are clear processes in place for consulting and 
communicating on safety. This ensures DFES 
staff work collaboratively to identify, resolve 
and continually improve safety throughout the 
Department. During 2013/14 DFES has focused 
on the following avenues to communicate and 
consult on safety:
• Station visit program.
• Health and Safety representative attendance 

at team meetings.
• Election of additional Health and Safety 

Representatives and setting up of tool box 
meetings for non operational personnel.

• Health and Safety Committee meetings with 
minutes circulated to all representatives and 
posted on the intranet.

• Operational tool box meetings.
• Training in the use of the On-line Hazard 

Reporting System.
• Safety Matters Discussion Board.
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• Risk assessment teams.
• New look intranet page for safety 

management with links for communication, 
key safety topics and hazards.

The August 2013 Health and Safety Forum was 
attended by over 110 people, the largest number 
of attendees for this event to date. The increase 
in the number of personnel attending the Forum 
and the increase in the number of Health and 
Safety Representatives to 80, demonstrates 
the change in safety culture which has been 
occurring over the last four years.

Training
Health and Safety Services have developed a 
safety training matrix outlining the safety training 
required for all roles within the Department to 
enable staff to perform their role safely and 
comply with legislative requirements.

Health and Safety Training is included in the 
on-line induction program and has also been 
included in the Station Officer and District 
Officer development programs. Health and 
Safety training is also provided to recruit 
firefighters at the beginning and end of their 
training. A customised Health and Safety for 
Supervisors and Managers course is being 
developed as part of management training.  

31 personnel went through the Station Officer 
and District Officer development program 
resulting in 70% of supervisors now being 
trained in Health and Safety.

Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management
Major achievements in 2013/14 include:
• Development and dissemination of information 

to medical practitioners on the roles within 
DFES so that injured and ill workers receive 
the most appropriate care possible.

• Development of a register of meaningful 
suitable duties positions for return to work 
plans resulting in minimal reliance on 
supernumerary return to work plans.

• Implementation of the Presumptive Legislation 
for career firefighters in November 2013.

• Volunteer Associations have contributed 
positively with the finalisation of Volunteer 
Personal Accident Cover. RiskCover and 
DFES have worked closely to develop and 
implement resources to inform volunteers 
and their managers on claim eligibility and 
processes including the development of a 
DFES Volunteer Claim Form.

• Provision of training and briefing sessions 
across DFES on the workers’ compensation 
system, return to work plans and supporting 
injured and ill employees.

Items that will be addressed in the coming 
years’ plan include:
• Ongoing review, update and implementation 

of relevant policies, procedures, processes, 
information, communication methods 
and inductions.

• Ongoing training and briefing sessions 
across DFES.

• Developing an employee satisfaction survey 
for injured and ill workers and volunteers.

• Continue to identify and document suitable 
positions within DFES to meet the needs of 
injured workers and return to work plans.

• Review of DFES workers’ compensation 
intranet page to ensure clarity and ease 
of use.

• Review and update the employee workers’ 
compensation information pack.
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Table of Results:
Public Sector Commissioner’s OSH Performance requirements 2012-14

Indicator Target 2009/2010 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 Rolling 
3 Year 

Average

2013/14 Comment on Result

Result Achieved?

Number of Fatalities Zero (0) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ✔

Lost time injury/disease 
(LTI/D) incidence rate

Zero (0) or 10% 
improvement 
on the previous 
three (3) years

8.50 9.83 8.80 7.76 8.79 5.44 -38% ✔

Lost time injury severity 
rate

Zero (0) or 10% 
improvement 
on the previous 
three (3) years

12.07 2.21 10.24 8.85 7.10 4.94 -44% ✔

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to 
work within (i) 13 weeks

88.79% 91.91% 90.55% 96.46% 93% 97.53%

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to 
work within (ii) 26 weeks

Greater than or 
equal to 80% 

97.41% 98.53% 94.49% 97.35% 97% 97.53% ✔

Percentage of managers 
and supervisors 
trained in occupational 
safety, health and 
injury management 
responsibilities

Greater than or 
equal to 80%

Not 
previously 
reported

Not 
previously 
reported

30% 63% 54% 70% +11% ✘

These statistics have been achieved using data from RiskCover and DFES Human Resources Directorate full time equivalent averages.
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DFES Reconciliation Action Plan
The DFES Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) 
report for 2013/14 reflects progress on agreed 
actions supporting Aboriginal people and 
acknowledging their role in Australian society. 
DFES created the Aboriginal Advancement 
Unit to demonstrate its growing commitment 
to progressing the actions from the 2008 
RAP and to build on the existing Indigenous 
Emergency Management Strategy 2010. This 
will be achieved by working in close consultation 
with Aboriginal communities to develop tailored 
messages, employment opportunities, inclusive 
land management, emergency services and 
response capacity in and around Aboriginal 
communities and homelands.

DFES is committed to recognising the wealth of 
holistic knowledge that the traditional Aboriginal 
owners have of their lands and environments. 
Key to the recognition and protection of 
Aboriginal knowledge and practices is its 
integration with DFES’ existing knowledge and 
practices.

A new RAP is being developed and will align 
with the new Strategic Plan outcomes. This 
will ensure the adoption of a wholly integrated 
approach supporting Aboriginal people across 
the Department.

DFES projects that focus on service 
delivery to the West Australian Aboriginal 
community include:
• Creation of an art competition to coincide with 

NAIDOC Week that encourages Aboriginal 
children to communicate with their peers, 
community and government about their 
experiences in relation to fire safety and the 
dry season. The initiative serves as a two-way 
communication tool that enables DFES to 
engage with young Aboriginal people who in 
turn, share their perceptions with DFES.

• The Remote Aboriginal Community 
FES Units project builds on community 
initiated fire response to deliver training 
and continued community engagement 
along with community operated firefighting 
vehicles, to capture Aboriginal knowledge 
and ensure effective and efficient emergency 
management leading to safer and more 
sustainable communities.

• Delivering Ready on Country education 
and training package which expands on 
existing emergency management planning 
in Aboriginal communities. The package 
also serves as a two-way education and 
awareness program that will benefit Aboriginal 
communities and DFES.

• Providing critical emergency services 
infrastructure to Aboriginal communities, an 
example of which is the Bardi Jawi Volunteer 
Marine Rescue Service boat in the Kimberley. 
These infrastructure projects ensure 
sustainability in the region, with a focus on 
marine safety, biosecurity surveillance and 
cultural resource management.

• Delivery of an emergency evacuation program 
so Aboriginal people become familiar with 
emergency checklists. This is important to 
ensure that in the event a community needs 
relocation, that essential medications and 
identification are not left behind.

• Continuing to offer Aboriginal Traineeships 
with an emphasis on encouraging participants 
to take up public sector employment.

• Conducting bridging programs to assist 
Aboriginal people to take up a career as a 
firefighter with DFES.

• Support the application of Section 51 
of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 to 
achieve diversity targets by mandating the 
employment of Aboriginal people in all roles 
across the Department. 
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Aboriginal actions aligning with DFES Strategic 
Outcomes on track:
• Develop and endorse a Governance 

Framework for the operation of the Aboriginal 
Advancement Unit.

• Document and maintain a contact register of 
key Aboriginal stakeholders across Western 
Australia.

• Develop and deliver a ‘How to Engage 
with Aboriginal People’ resource, including 
protocols on how to effectively engage with 
local Aboriginal communities to develop the 
capacity and understanding of DFES.

• Educate and train key DFES staff to operate 
in accordance with agreed Aboriginal 
community engagement and cultural 
protocols.

• Establish documented procedures for 
operational deployment of Aboriginal 
Liaison Officers.

• Actively promote and encourage Aboriginal 
enterprises to secure business opportunities 
with DFES.

• Ensure DFES emergency management 
arrangements service delivery standards 
consider and include Aboriginal communities.

• Ensure active engagement with traditional 
owners, community members and 
administrators on emergency management 
arrangements prioritising at risk communities.

• Initiate research that will identify the barriers 
and challenges for Aboriginal people actively 
becoming emergency service volunteers.

• Develop and publish a RAP for 2014-2019.
• Ensure the development and delivery of an 

Aboriginal cultural awareness package to 
designated DFES personnel.

• DFES acknowledges and celebrates events of 
Aboriginal cultural significance.

• Create new pathways for Aboriginal people 
to volunteer.
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ABS Australian Bureau of Statistics
AFSM Australian Fire Service Medal
APM Australian Police Medal
ARMC Audit and Risk Management 

Committee
AVL Automatic Vehicle Location
BFS Bush Fire Service
C3IS Command, Control, Coordination 

and Information System
CBRN Chemical Biological Radiological 

and Nuclear
CLT Corporate Leadership Team
Comcen Communications Centre
CSIRO Commonwealth Scientific and 

Industrial Research Organisation
DAIP Disability Access and 

Inclusion Plan
DFES Department of Fire and 

Emergency Services
DPaW Department of Parks and Wildlife
ESL Emergency Services Levy
ESM Emergency Services Medal
FES Fire and Emergency Services

FESA Fire and Emergency Services 
Authority of Western Australia

FRS Fire and Rescue Service
FTE Full Time Equivalent
HAZMAT Hazardous Materials
HEAT Hazmat Emergency Advisory 

Team
ICL Incident Controller Level
ISG Incident Support Group
JAFFA Juvenile and Family Fire 

Awareness
LGA Local Government Association
LGGS Local Government Grant Scheme
MLA Member of the Legislative 

Assembly
NAIDOC National Aboriginal and Islander 

Day Observance Committee
NDRRA Natural Disaster Relief and 

Recovery Arrangements
OBRM Office of Bushfire Risk 

Management
OSH Occupational Safety and Health
RAP Reconciliation Action Plan

SEMC State Emergency Management 
Committee

SES State Emergency Service
SIMCEN Simulation Training Centre
TRIM Tower Records and Information 

Management
UFU United Firefighters Union of 

Australia
VERP Volunteer Employee Recognition 

Program
VES Volunteer Emergency Service
VFRS Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service
VFS Volunteer Fire Service
VMR Volunteer Marine Rescue
WALGA Western Australian Local 

Government Association
WANDRRA Western Australian Natural 

Disaster Relief and Recovery 
Arrangements

WAPOL Western Australia Police

Glossary
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Appendix 1: Other Key Legislation
In performing its functions, DFES complies with relevant legislation including:

Appendices

• Associations Incorporation Act 1987
• Auditor General Act 2006
• Building Act 2011
• Conservation and Land Management Act 1984
• Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
• Country Areas Water Supply Act 1947
• Dangerous Goods Safety Act 2004
• Environmental Protection Act 1986
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Act 1985
• Freedom of Information Act 1992
• Government Employees’ Housing Act 1964
• Government Financial Responsibility Act 2000
• Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990

• Land Administration Act 1997
• Local Government Act 1995
• Metropolitan Water Supply, Sewerage and Drainage Act 1909
• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
• Pay-roll Tax Assessment Act 2002
• Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
• Public Sector Management Act 1994
• Road Traffic Act 1974
• State Records Act 2000
• State Superannuation Act 2000
• Transfer of Land Act 1893
• Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981
• Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004
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Appendix 2: Emergency Response Statistics
All figures current as at 30 June 2014

DFES staff allocation as at 30 June 2014

Firefighters 1,120
Administration / support 309
Total 1,429

Note: The total will not correlate with figures in this table will not relate to Staff Profile numbers on page 132. This is because this table relates to Full Time 
Equivalent staff numbers, not staff head count. 

Cadets and Juniors as at 30 June 2014

Emergency Services Cadets 1,517
Juniors registered with brigades, groups and units 509
Total cadets and juniors 2,026
Emergency Services Cadet Units 40
Junior Cadet Programs 103

Volunteers Number of Brigades, Groups or Units Volunteer Numbers as at 30 June 2014

Operational Support Total

Volunteer Bush Fire Service 579 21,465 786 22,251
Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service 92 2,098 148 2,246
State Emergency Service 64 1,986 57 2,043
Volunteer Marine Rescue Services 37 1,554 34 1,588
Volunteer Emergency Service 20 549 8 557
Volunteer Fire Service 8 331 6 337
Other DFES Volunteers 3 16 34 50
Total 803 27,999 1,073 29,072

Note: Total will not correlate with total regional volunteer numbers on page 9 as it includes volunteers who are dual registered.
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Fire and Emergency Services Incident Response – 
All Services

Number of Incidents  
in 2013/14

Structure Fires 1,360

Landscape Fires 5,211

Other Fires – Includes Rubbish 3,824

Road Crash Rescues 2,481

Non-Fire Rescue Calls 1,727

Hazardous Materials (HAZMAT) 572

System Initiated False Alarms 9,399

Calls to Flood, Storm or Other Natural Disaster 198

Good Intent Calls 2,593

Petrol or Flammable Spills and Gas Leaks 605

Malicious False alarms 170

Service Calls (Excludes Storm and Natural Hazards) 854

Others 1,927

Total responses provided by all services 30,921

The number of responses provided by all services this year was comparable to last year (a total of 30,395 responses in 2012/13). The proportion of 
incident types has also remained steady.
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Aviation Services Number of 
Aircraft Type

Activations in 
2013/14

Number of Drops Total amount of 
water in litres

Aerial Fire Suppression Type 1 (Bell 214B) Helitak 6 239 3,081 8,701,257

Aerial Fire Suppression Type 1HV (Aircrane) Helitak 1 27 606 2,034,939

DFES Aerial Intelligence Helicopter 1 69

Aerial Rescue – RAC Rescue Helicopter (includes incidents and 
flying hours where a fee for service was charged)

1 604

Aviation Services incident numbers are included in the Fire and Emergency Service Incident Response figures above. In supporting firefighting activities on 
the ground, suppression activations (266) increased by 41 percent in 2013/14 when compared to 2012/13 (188).

In 2013/14 there was a 148 percent increase in the total amount of water delivered to fire grounds compared to the 2012/13 fire season while Aerial 
Intelligence activities decreased by 53 percent.

The Rescue Helicopter responded to 604 missions in 2013/14, an increase of 27 percent on 2012/13 (477).

Arson and Fire Investigation 2013/14

Formal Investigations 93

Formal investigations decreased this year (93 compared to 149 in 2012/13).

Built Environment Safety 2013/14

Commercial building plan assessments 865

Firefighting equipment tests 153

Emergency Management Training

Organisations accessing commercial training 78

Building plan assessments are down on 2012/13 (865 compared to 1,974).
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Appendix 3 Local Government Grants Scheme (LGGS) and VMRS Grants

Grants Expensed in 2013/14 Operating 
$000

Capital 
$000

Total 
$000

LGGS – Bush Fire Service 8,419 18,882 27,301

LGGS – State Emergency Service 2,461 1,943 4,404

10,880 20,825 31,705

VMRS (includes Operating Grant of $223,696 for the 
Metropolitan Volunteer Sea Rescue Group)

1,330 765 2,095

12,210 21,590 33,800
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Appendix 4 Infrastructure and Vehicles

Infrastructure CFRS BFS SES VFRS VES VFS

Number of existing structures as at 30 June 2013 28* 353* 64* 90* 16 9

Number of new structure approvals 2013/14 0 6 3 0 0 0

Number of structure improvements 2013/14 
(excludes minor works)

1 0 1 0 0 0

“BFS” includes number of dedicated Bush Fire Brigade structures only including collocations with another DFES service. Count does not include 
structures that are housed on private property in privately owned sheds.

“SES” includes collocations with another DFES service. Administration building and shed if not attached are counted as one facility.

* Includes Collocated facilities.

Vehicles CFRS BFS SES* VFRS VES VFS

Number of existing vehicles as at 30 June 2013 129 636 344 247 63 31

Number of new or replacement vehicle approvals 2013/14 5 52 31 17 6 0

* SES includes licenced equipment such as trailers and major capital equipment such as lighting towers.
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